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Updates to Volumes 1 and 2

This version published June 28, 2004

Compiled and written by Brian Membrey

About this update

This document is an evolving update of the material contained in the original Volumes One and Two of "Where We Come From", a history of the Preston Football Club released in 2002 in celebration of the club's original entry into the Victorian Football Association in 1903. 

A slightly revised second edition of Volume Two was released late in 2004 and there may be some duplication of material in that issue, but the reality is that most of the updated material is prior to the Second World War (the timeframe covered by Volume One).

The reason for this is quite simple - from the time of the club's re-entry into the Association in 1926, most of the history is readily available on microfilm of daily newspapers and the local Preston and Northcote Leader. 

Prior to that, the history of a small junior club is hidden away in snippets spread across many sources and thus far more difficult to research (and paradoxically the more rewarding for the same reason).

One major addition has been the compilation of a history of our ground, once known as Preston and Gowerville Park, but later Preston Park.  This research revises a couple of what have been generally accepted facts about the date of acquisition of the park lands by the Shire of Jika and some of its earliest history. 

There is some duplication between material specific to the football flub and this history of the Park.  The latter is being undertaken as a separate project and included as an addendum to this update.

Given that there has been another two years part-time research into the club's history, the likelihood of any major expansion of material is very unlikely unless somewhere out there a secret treasure chest of documents that great-grandfather put in the attic 80 years ago suddenly reappears; 

Unlikely, but not impossible;  we note that the football presented to the captain of the 1895 Fitzroy premiership team (in which a couple of ex-Preston players were involved) has come to light after spending many decades stuck away in a cupboard in Northcote.

1848 The Mill Park Races

Volume One mentioned the race meeting at the Preston Arms Hotel in 1858, but this wasn't the first sporting attraction in the area to attract attention from the Melbourne press.

Boxing Day of 1848 saw the first "Plenty River Races" at the Plough Inn Hotel.   

The meeting was described as well conducted and without incident other than a broken arm suffered by Mr. Lang, the local butcher who had a tumble from his horse in the steeplechase.

"Without incident" was probably significant given that many of the meetings on Boxing Day became somewhat rough-house affairs as the locals let their hair down after a more-religiously based Christmas Day than many now observe.

The main race of the day was the Plough Inn Cup of £25, a very healthy sum for a small country meeting.  By contrast, meetings closer to Melbourne were well-established at St. Kilda and Brighton, with the St. Kilda meeting boasting a top prize of £20 for four different events over two days.

The only meeting at Flemington over the Christmas period was at on New Year's Day when the St. Leger, then the richest race on the calendar, carried prize money of 100 sovereigns.

The Plenty River meeting of the following year revealed that the Plough Inn was in Plenty Road in Mill Park, the district drawing its name after Hurlstone's flourmill, later removed to Wood Street in Preston and then to Plenty Road in South Preston.

Stewards listed for the meeting were Mr. Wilson and Mr. James Edgar, the Clerk, Mr. C. Walker and the Treasurer, Mr. E. Butler.  The advertisement for entries suggested, "a dinner will be provided at the Plough Inn".

The previews of the second meeting predicted the races would become an annual event, a suggestion that as in many cases was "the kiss of death".   

The Plough Inn is known to have been in existence as least as early as 1842 when the publican was shown as James Coulstock.  

"The Plenty – a Centenary History of the Whittlesea Shire" published in 1975 provides a couple of hints as to where the Plough Inn was situated, but perhaps muddies the water a little as to the hotel's origins.

The Coulstock family purchased four lots of land not long after the original sales of 1838 and disposed of two parcels in 1847, including one where "… the primitive Plough Inn rose with Edward Butler as the first licensee …".   The second lot was sold to William Cleeland, the pair "… lined the lane that led to John McKimmie's place".

The book also claims that when toll gates were introduced into the district in 1854 to help fund the costs of road maintenance, the northernmost was alongside the Plough Inn.

The race meeting seems to have been a cooperative affair –the James Edgar listed as a steward was the publican of the Bridge Inn Hotel, also known to have existed from at least 1842.

This hotel also shows in early records as being at “the Plenty River” but was in South Morang and from what can be traced, probably on the site of today’s hotel of the same name. 

Racing disappeared from the Plough Inn until 1860, when another meeting was held.  

By then the hotel claimed to be in Thomastown, a name that had sprang up during the 1850s after several families of that name settled in the district.

Oddly enough there was another meeting scheduled for Epping just three days later with one or two officials including two Cleeland brothers common to both, but sadly no indication of exactly where the races were held.
1857 The Irish Town Races

Volume One documented a race meeting in Preston held in 1858 which received some publicity at the time, but a close check of earlier records reveal it wasn't the first in Preston – although one would need some knowledge of local history to realize it. 

One of the earliest editions of Bell's Life in Victoria published on 31 January 1857 carried a prominent front-page advertisement for the "OAKHILL RACES, IRISH TOWN to be held at the Rose, Thistle and Shamrock Hotel, Plenty Road".
The early name for the hotel (now The Rose, Shamrock and Thistle) perhaps indicates the strong Irish connection around the Tyler Street – Plenty Road corner.
The hotel, believed to have been first built in 1848 has been reconstructed two or three times, being known at times as simply the Shamrock, and then after a reshuffle of the British floral emblems, the Rose, Shamrock and Thistle.   
Regardless of name, the hostelry has always occupied the same site in Plenty Road just below the crest of the hill and in the nineteenth century was famous as a stopover for bullock trains and travellers heading for the Plenty River settlements and gold fields.   

Almost as well known as the hotel were its immediate neighbours.  The Doolan family's farm and blacksmith works were a landmark until early in the 20th century, while on the other side, Harry Bouverie's cab service provided regular transport for locals heading into Melbourne.

Irishtown (or Irish Town) was the original name used by what is thought to have been the district's first settler, Samuel Jeffrey.   Although the name was used by a few locals, the Bell's Life reference is the only sighting of Irishtown in the contemporary press of the 1850s.   

The Oakhill races were rather more ambitious than the later Preston venture, being scheduled over two days, the Thursday and Friday of the following week.

For the Thursday, the events scheduled were 
· a Pony Race of £10 over one and a half miles
· a Farmer's Purse of £25 for horses "the bona fide property of farmers and to be ridden by their owners"

· the Rose, Thistle and Shamrock Stakes of 20 guineas at weight for age and to be run in heats
· a Maiden Stakes of  £10 for horses which had never won an advertised stake.

The Stewards for the meeting were Henry Buck and J. Hall, the Judge, Hugh Sinclair, and John Little acted as Clerk of the Course.

Bell's Life on Saturday, February 14 noted 
"a very good quality of horse and a good number of people from the rural districts and some from the metropolis, although we are sorry to say that for the best part the farmers left their ladies behind".

The Stakes were won by George Watson's "Caledonia", who survived a protest after another rider claimed Watson had ridden inside one of the posts marking the course, described as "rather rough and the horses in starting had a pretty severe hill to go up which tested their gameness".   
The stewards were also forced to adjudicate on the Maiden Stakes, the rider of one of the also-rans claiming the winning horse had in fact collected a purse at a meeting at Ivanhoe some three years previously.

Perhaps because of pressing deadlines, the report on the Friday meeting was briefer, simply suggesting the weather "was rather warmer". 

The Friday races included the Publican's Purse of 20 guineas for horses that had not won that sum in a single purse, a Steeplechase, twice round the course (but no distance indicated), the Hurry Scurry for horses that were "demonstrably hacks", and a Consolation Stakes of £10 for all beaten horses.

Given most of the stake money distributed came from the entry fees, the unnamed organizers of the meeting, perhaps uncertain of the likely public response hedged their bets a little when advertising the event, adding the rider that "a minimum of four horses must be entered, else no public money added".

Some hotels tried to run their local meetings on an annual basis, but there is no sign of any further meetings at the Oakhill course at Irish Town.   

1859 Setting A Precedent?

There is just a couple of small mentions in The Brunswick and Pentridge Press, the first newspaper to be published in Brunswick and Pentridge, the area we know now as Coburg.

Those precious lines tell us that early in 1859, a Preston Cricket Club played three matches against Phillipstown, the south-western part of Brunswick bordered by Park, Victoria and Grantham Streets and Sydney Road to the east.

From what can be gathered, each side won a match before Phillipstown walked off the ground in the decider, complaining of the Preston umpire's decisions and the behaviour of the Preston players.

We refrain from further comment!

For anyone chasing up long-lost relatives, we can tell you the line-up in the very first match (which Preston lost by four wickets) was in batting order : Capper, Smith, Murall, Bennet, A. Crawley, C. Crawley, Lomax, D'Arcy, Wheeler, Plummer and Mann.

We haven't discovered a direct link between that team and a later Preston side that is known to have played a number of matches in 1863 and again in 1868 and 1870, but the Crawley brothers also appeared in those latter teams.  

The Plummer mentioned was probably either the publican of the Preston Alms at the time, Edwin Plummer, or a son of that gentleman.

1880 An Unknown Preston

A small paragraph in the Collingwood Mercury in 1880 suggests a team calling itself Preston played Coburg, losing six goals to nil.

This is the only time this Preston team was sighted.   Although not the forefathers of today's club, Coburg had been playing for three or four years, mostly in the Brunswick district which sported a number of teams.

Included amongst the best for Coburg was William Bayliss, later a prominent cricketer with Preston.   

Given that most footballers also took to the cricket field, it is something of a surprise that the only Preston player mentioned in "Wickens" never appeared in the Preston or Gowerville cricket clubs for which several team listings survive.

There was a family of that name prominent in the Northcote Rechabite Society, but there was a Northcote Football Club at the time fielding two teams to cater for the locals.

1883

The Preston Football Club is believed to have played during 1882 but today's selectors may have struggled a little with player placements of the time.  

During the 1883 season South Melbourne visited Sydney to play a series of exhibition matches and as a rare treat, the Sydney Morning Herald listed the visitor’s starting line-up :

Elms, Brook, Wood, Young   (backs)

Robinson, Smart   (half-back)

Brown   (centre)

Page, Gates   (wing left)

Slatter, Horan    (wing right)

Coding, Roy    (forwards)

Neely, Wells   (goals)

Graham, Gilchrist, Graves, Minchin, Taylor (followers)

1884 Football In And On The Outer

All surviving records put the formation of the Preston Football Club at 1882 with some evidence pointing strongly to it originally being known as Gowerville and changing its name with the proclamation of the Shire of Preston in September, 1885. 

The Gowerville team starting appearing reasonably regularly in 1884, but just where they played is a mystery.

In May of that year, the Jika Council discussed an application by the Gowerville Cricket Club to use a pile of topsoil "near the gates" for improving their pitch. 

Just when the gates were erected isn't known, but they were of the decorative variety and at least two existed, on the corners of Mary Street at Cramer and Bruce Streets. 

Up until around 1904 when the oval itself was fenced, Preston Park supported two cricket pitches, thought to have run from east to west.   

The pitches were shared by whoever the two leading clubs of the time were and for some reason the senior club usually opted for the southern end of the playing area. 

But if Preston Park was somewhat overrun by cricketers over the summer months, it seems that it was rather deserted during the winter. 

At the same meeting, Cr. Ralph Hutton asked a seemingly innocent question as to whether football was allowed on the Park, noting that he had been there on the previous Saturday when a match was played and "whenever the ball was lost a grand scramble took place to the amusement of the public but to the detriment of the shrubs and trees".

The Mayor, Cr. Bartlett explained :

"… while football had been played on the Park on Saturday last, it was no intention of the Council in defiance of a former resolution to allow the game to be played on the ground".

Bartlett's stance and presumably concern over damage to the local flora was admirable to say the least.   

He was one of seventeen children of a family running a large nursery in Spring Street in what was described as North Preston and a few tree or shrub replacements would almost have certainly swelled the family coffers.   The nursery near the corner of Regent Street survived although in a reduced form through to the 1950s.

There was nothing in the minutes of the meeting to indicate which team had the effrontery to use a public reserve for football, but we can probably point the finger at the Gowerville Football Club.

The previous Saturday’s edition of the City & Suburban Observer and Advertiser, a weekly paper distributed through Collingwood, Fitzroy and East Melbourne, listed an upcoming match "Abbotsford and Preston".  

Given the timing of the match, it seems certain that the team was, in fact, Gowerville.   The Advertiser in its report on the match the following week refers to "Preston South" and an alternate newspaper, the Collingwood Mercury suggests specifically Gowerville as the club involved.

1885 Gowerville

A brief report on a pre-season meeting held on April 10, 1885 of the Gowerville Football Club has recently been uncovered.

This is the earliest meeting yet sighted and shows J. G. Powell as president, J. S. Potter as vice-president, John. S. Marshall as treasurer, William Watson as secretary, and a committee comprising of William Nichol, Frank Donovan and Richard Robb, with the brief coverage suggesting "the club is in a satisfactory condition both financially and otherwise".

Whether it was the first meeting of the Gowerville club is uncertain. 

More often than not, the first meeting of a club was identified as such, but the reference is simply "the annual meeting of the Gowerville Football Club".

1885 The First Officials

The William Watson acting as secretary was almost certainly the partner in the Watson and Paterson ham and bacon business, one of Preston's earliest industries and a landmark on the corner of Dundas Street and Plenty Road.

Watson continued at odd times in the secretary's role and there were at least four players (William, George, Jack and Albert) on both the football and cricket fields with the surname, but it is not certain whether they were members of this family.   

Another Watson family were prominent in the All Saint's Church and in an associated cricket team.

John S. Marshall (if the report is accurate) was the son of John D. Marshall, the family being well known as storekeepers in Plenty Road, South Preston and also as builders around the district.

Both father and son featured regularly in the lists of officials for several seasons of the Gowerville Cricket Club.

Frank Donovan was an Irishman and something of a political pot-stirrer with little of importance happening around the area without a letter on the subject from Donovan appearing in whatever acted as Preston's local newspaper of the day.

The committeemen Nichol and Robb were both regular players with the early and cricket teams in Preston and Gowerville.   

Nichol was probably the better footballer, eventually representing the V.J.F.A. in the early 1890s, but hardly a year went by without Robb picking up a prize for his batting performances on the cricket field, initially with Preston in the late 1870s, but later with Gowerville after that club was founded in 1880.
John Powell was a grocer, listed in directories as in Plenty Road, South Preston.   After acting as secretary with the newly merged club in 1886, he resumed as president in 1887 and 1888 before resigning the position because of a pending trip to England.

J. S. Potter ran a boot making business in High Street, South Preston and was also involved in minor positions with the Gowerville Cricket Club.
1885 The Jury's Verdict

Without further recourse to our learned legal friend in Volume One, we can now put the case of Preston versus Gowerville Football Clubs to rest.

Another two years of part-time research still have not disclosed anything of the Preston Football Club's activities between the accepted foundation year of 1882 and 1885.

That the Preston Football Club was active in 1886 is confirmed by several match reports and the meeting prior to 1887 suggests they played twelve matches through the previous season.   

The Shire of Preston was officially proclaimed in September, 1885 replacing the Shire of Jika with its Gowerville and Preston ridings.  

The Gowerville Football Club disappeared from sight and the early belief was that Gowerville may have adopted the Preston name in line with the local government changes.

Obviously, to find the answer to a football riddle, you have to spend many hours searching newspapers during the football season with perhaps a month or two at either end thrown in for good measure, right?

Wrong!

The first hint of the actual events that saw the emergence of the Preston Football Club come at a council meeting early in November 1885, just two months after the Shire was proclaimed.

The meeting received a letter from "William Watson, the secretary of the Preston and Gowerville Football Club", seeking permission to hold a sports carnival at Preston Park on the forthcoming New Years Day.

Permission was ultimately granted for the carnival "subject to the Park not being required by the cricket clubs".

The Collingwood Mercury later described the sports "organised by the now united footballers of Preston and Gowerville" as an outstanding success.

Mr. President?

What is not certain is just who the President of the merged club was.

Reports of a letter written by Powell to the Council in May 1886 describe him as "the secretary of the Preston and Gowerville Football Club".
Assuming the report was correct (which seems likely as it was usually the secretary's duties included all correspondence) and Powell was in that role during 1886, then the president was probably originally with the little-known Preston club.
On the cricket front, the president of the Preston and later Preston Union club was William J. Wilkinson, then a solicitor in High Street and later Preston's State Parliament representative for some years.   

Wilkinson's name, however, has never been sighted in connection with the football club in later years and it seems unlikely that he would have assumed the role for just one season.

The middle initial of J. is critical as there was another Wilkinson prominent in Preston's early history.

William Cleland Wilkinson was a doctor originally from Yorkshire with a practice on the corner of south-western corner of High and Bruce Streets and well-known for both his thick accent and in his role for many years as the Shire's Medical Officer.

Prior to Wilkinson, the cricket club president was Cr. William Bartlett, the mayor at the time of Gowerville first being refused permission to use the ground! 

From the surviving evidence, it remains something of a mystery as to what the Preston club brought to the negotiating table other than perhaps the president and the name of the new Shire. 

Their activities on the field remain obscure, and their home ground, believed to have been behind the Preston Alms Hotel in Regent, would hardly have been convenient to the South Preston residents.

Of the known early officials, Powell, Watson, Donovan and Marshall were all prominent "Gowervillites", indicating that they were the stronger of the two clubs as they were on the cricket field.
1886 On, Off and Back On the Park 

Powell's letter to the Council pleaded for use of the Park, suggesting "the piece of ground on which the club played was about to be sold" and "players were forced to leave their clothes in the open and on the ground, a recent robbery having occurred as a result".

The move was strongly supported by a new councillor, William Braithwaite, later a president of the football club but again it was Cr. Hutton who provided the most vocal opposition and the club was again refused use of the Park.

Like many combined names, "Preston and Gowerville" was quickly and unofficially abbreviated to "Preston".

The few match results that appeared during 1886 invariably called the club Preston, and the oldest surviving report of an annual meeting after the merger in April of 1887 also was headed "Preston Football Club", but the Gowerville name was briefly revived soon after, and perhaps with a political motive in mind.

After spending their 1886 season playing on the unknown paddock, the club again tried to gain access to Preston Park the following season and the April meeting of the Shire Council received a letter minuted as from the "Gowerville and Preston Football Club" asking permission to use the Park for football.

Gowerville had always had a strong ally on Council in William Paterson (the business partner of William Watson).    Paterson in August of the previous year had been elected Shire President, in fact his fourth term in that position having led the old Shire of Jika for three years.

The previous mayor, Cr. Alex Short moved a motion that the Parks Committee meet the football club to inspect the Park and report on its suitability for football.   

Paterson seconded the motion before Cr. Fred Bayliss, a leading cricketer in Preston in the early 1880s suggested that the matter could be settled more quickly by "a personal inspection to see whether the game could be played there without damage to the trees and shrubs". 

Paterson, however, was adamant that it had to be done by the book, warning that "granting permission was right enough so long as no damage was done but the moment damage was caused the ratepayers would come down upon the Council".

The matter was left in the hands of the Parks Committee, but Bayliss's crusade for a "personal inspection" was to prove crucial.
1887 The First Meeting

A fortnight after the Council decision, the Preston Football Club held their meeting at the new Bradford Hall in High Street.     The hall, which became the regular meeting place for many groups around the area, was constructed by James Bradford and opened in November of the previous year.

Powell was listed President of the club after being noted the previous season as secretary.  Given William Watson had been shown as secretary just a few months earlier, perhaps Powell may have in fact been the incumbent President.

The new secretary for 1887 was John D. Marshall and Donovan was treasurer.

From the meeting we know that the newly combined team played 12 games during 1886, winning five, losing five and drawing two.     Total receipts were put at £12-1-6 and expenditure £10-11-6.

Our first "best and fairest" award, a dinner service, was won by T. Horan, the prize then for to the "best all round player".   Medals were also presented to R. Lee, J. Hopkins and W. Watson, and Horan was re-elected captain.

There is no evidence one way or the other to suggest whether Preston played in a division of the Victorian Junior Football Association, or just arranged games. 

The number of matches played suggests an organised competition, and this is perhaps supported by comments made at the meeting that Preston's playing list was "material for a First-Rate Junior club".

1887 A Personal Inspection

At the Shire's meeting in May, plans were submitted by the Parks Committee showing the portion required for football and "such alterations as would be necessary".     

A letter from the club explained what measures they planned to protect the trees and shrubs from harm, and the Committee's thoughts "were favourable for the purpose sought under a two month trial".

A few weeks before, there had been an somewhat unhappy cricket match between the Preston Union club and a team with a somewhat unsavoury reputation called Industry, based in Collingwood and playing in the Darling Gardens.   

The Collingwood Mercury had deplored the constant use of "objectionable" language by the visiting team, perhaps prompting Cr. Short (a publican of some 30 years standing as well as a prominent Justice of the Peace) to ask whether the football club had a regulation to "prevent the use of improper language by its members or players".

This seems to have been the opening that Cr. Bayliss had been waiting for.   He had had his "personal inspection" and let the Council into a few home truths :

"… the trees in the Park are already very much damaged, the buildings were in a very much a bad state, the seats and sills have been cut and carved with knives and the walls covered with disgraceful writing"

Current councillors who think it would be clever to remove the fencing and return the grounds to open parklands may like to take heed of his findings! 

Bayliss put much of the blame on "youths visiting the Park on Sundays using language so filthy and disgusting respectable people are unable to use the Park" and that he had "prohibited his own children from entering the place".

He concluded by demanding that a full-time caretaker be appointed, a move that gathered support and ultimately a motion was put to invite applications from persons willing to take charge of the Park "and look after the trees and flowers". 

After some discussion as to whether tendering out the position would be cheaper, the motion was passed and it was ultimately resolved that the football club be allowed to play on the park "during good behaviour".
So the Grand Opening of the new football ground was to be on May 28 with Preston to host Royal Park, an area which hosted many of the earliest football clubs.  

Just what happened in the intervening three weeks will never be known, but when the footballers arrived to play their first match on the hallowed turf they found

"… at the last moment, Council interfered and issued their fist that the game would not be permitted to be played in the Park.    In the face of this vexatious turn of events, the two teams set to work and cleared as well as possible an adjacent vacant piece of land".

"The game was something of a mixture of aquatics and football as the players stubbornly went to work.      The visitors made some brilliant play but the home team under captain Horan succeeded in winning with 2 goals and 9 behinds to Royal Park's 14 behinds".

Collingwood Mercury, June 4, 1887

As well as the drama on the day, the scores in a rather lengthy report on the match contrasts dramatically with those previously note in the Collingwood Observer who showed the result as 2.8 to 0.7.

That the land was still vacant was rather fortuitous.    The report on the cricket match where complaints were raised about objectionable language suggested, "the early attendance of visitors was nil in consequence of a land sale beside the ground".

It was back to the drawing boards and at the Council on the following Monday night, Powell and Horan were given leave to plead the club's case and although there was no reason given for the previous late change of heart, Council agreed to adhere to the original conditions.

The first game finally came off on June 4 and witnessed by "a large concourse of spectators who impartially recognised any good play".

The visitors were noted for their neat and effective little marks, rules at the time specifying no minimum distance the ball had to travel for a mark to be paid.   Many teams became adept at chipping the ball one or two yards, especially when trying to improve the angle for a shot on goal..

Again the Collingwood papers couldn't agree on scores, or even on the name of the opposition team, the Observer calling them Collingwood Star and the Mercury, Star of Collingwood, but according to the latter, Preston recorded a favourable draw, 1.7 to 1.5.  

Behinds weren't officially part of the score until 1897 but if teams kicked an equal number of goals, the draw was said to be "favourable" to the side scoring the most behinds.

"Preston got possession, playing their little marks from one to another, got it up near their opponents goal sticks and after some smart play, Horan gave a mark to one of their bullockers - a man of big size and weight who went for the man instead of the ball, having free kicks against him many times - and by a fine place kick scored first goal for Preston."

Collingwood Observer, June 11, 1887

The Observer didn't name the "bullocker", but a later report included a player by the name of Bullock so we can second-guess our sole goal scorer for the game.  Star of Collingwood scored the equalising goal late in the third quarter.

And Fifty Years Later

It took another 50 years to emerge, but some insight into the very early Preston and/or Gowerville clubs emerged during Preston's Golden Jubilee celebrations in August 1935.   Part of the celebration was a grand reunion of the football club with many past players and officials in attendance.

Fittingly, it was a member of the family so prominent in Preston's earliest sporting endeavours that provided a couple of precious hints …

"Tom Paterson responded on behalf of the old brigade.  He received rapt attention when he told of the many battles fought in the days when Bob Smith was secretary and when the football ground was where the present National Bank now stands".

Preston Leader, August 31, 1935

Just what does this all-too brief report tell us?

Based on the evidence, either the Preston or Gowerville club probably played on a paddock now in the centre of today's High street shopping precinct. 

Powell's letter to the Council early in 1886 suggested that the club's ground "was about to be sold", but whether or not it was to the National Bank is problematical.    The National was Preston's first (and for many years only) bank and although the exact date of its establishment is not known, it existed in 1888 when the first editions of the Preston Leader were published.

The bank's location in these years was described as 'South Preston", suggesting the Gowerville end of town, but it was well-established in the current location in High Street, more or less opposite the Post Office by 1917, when the first aerial photograph of Preston clearly shows the impressive building as one of just three or four on the western side of the stretch between Cramer Street and Murray Road.

The Paterson family was very much based in Gowerville and already with close connections to the cricket club of that name that was challenging Preston in terms of size or prestige.    

Just which of the football clubs Tom was referring to is uncertain, but given the family connection, it was probably Gowerville.   This is supported by other snippets around the time suggesting football was played behind the Preston Arms in the area that considered itself "Preston".

Paterson's mention of "Bob Smith" as secretary almost certainly places the recollection as before 1886.

All secretaries of the amalgamated Preston club from that year are known and there is no reference to "Bob Smith", although W. H. Smith acted in the role in 1907-08 when the club was firmly entrenched at Preston Park.

A family named Smith (although no "Bob" or "Robert") was prominent in the Gowerville Cricket Club, one S. D. Smith being secretary in the early 1880s and J. Smith known as a leading batsman at the time.

Sadly, the Preston Leader report gave little else away about the early history of the club, mentioning one of the highlights was Ted "Dew" Hall producing his 1900 premiership cap and Tom Ralph relating "many amusing incidents when the club used rooms at his father's hotel for many years".  

Jack Ralph died in 1912 and was known to have been partially paralyzed at the time of his passing after an earlier accident on Rucker’s Hill.
1887 Captain Felix?

Could Preston Football Club's first known captain also have been our first  (and only) Test cricketer?

Tom Horan was one of Victoria and Australia's leading cricketers during early tours of England, having played in the first ever Test Match in march, 1877 and in fact top-scoring in Australia's second innings.

He toured England with Australia sides in 1878 and 1882, but declined offers to visit the old country in 1884 and 1886 because of family responsibilities after his marriage in 1879.  

Tom Horan played football at the senior level with South Melbourne in 1883 and later became famed as a cricket writer using the pen name of "Felix" in the widely read Melbourne journal, The Australasian as well as the leading daily, The Argus.   He captained Australia on two occasions and in all played 15 Tests in days when an average tour only involved a couple of test matches.

Surviving records of Gowerville's annual meeting on September 13, 1883 show "our" T. Horan led the batting averages of the Gowerville Cricket Club for the 1882-83 season, but had played just three games and was excluded from the award under the club's rules.     

Horan averaged 18 which seems a modest return from someone who may have played Test cricket, but we are talking uncovered dirt wickets and his figures were in fact nearly three times that of the eventual award winner, John White with an average of just 6.4 over 18 matches.

Runs, just like the money, were more valuable then!

Horan was also listed as taking out a prize for batting the following year; again, the name appears irregularly in the match reports remaining and it is not clear whether the rules on the number of games played was eased or he actually played in a number of unreported matches. 

There is no trace of Horan playing after the end of the season and undoubtedly this is the same man who captained the football club.

"The" Tom Horan was born in County Cork, Ireland, but was brought up in North Fitzroy where he was educated at the Bell Street State School.   He played his local cricket with East Melbourne, but there was no organised competition, and just perhaps on days where East had an off-day, he fronted up for an odd game with Gowerville.

The Horan name appears with the Gowerville Football Club in 1885 and then Preston in 1886 and 1887 but wasn't sighted the following year, the captain then being Alf Vaughan.

Was it coincidence the Tom Horan as "Felix" toured England in his role as a journalist during the winter of 1888, the same time "our" Horan disappeared from the Preston Football Club?

An examination of the surviving scores of the Gowerville club from the 1883-4 and 1884-85 seasons further supports our claim for Horan.

In examining nine reports where individual performances are given, the name of Horan appears four times and on none of those days did he play for East Melbourne, Victoria or Australia.  

On four other occasions, Horan’s name does not appear with Gowerville and on each of these days, he is noted  as playing in other matches.

That leaves just one day in which Horan’s name does not appear either with Gowerville or with a senior team; perhaps he had the day off, or perhaps didn’t distinguish himself enough with Gowerville to rate a mention.

To confuse the issue, one account of Horan's life suggested he had a younger brother regarded as highly promising cricketer, but who died at a young age, but if this was the player with the Gowerville cricket club, why did he play so infrequently?

The name of John C. Horan also appears in several newspapers promoting a sporting club, possibly this was the younger brother

Tom Horan had two sons, Tom junior and Jim who were also fine players with Victoria, and the link to the northern suburbs remains with Tom junior appearing in the first-ever Collingwood pennant side in 1906.

1888

On the subject of cricketers, we inadvertently showed a player called Henry as "having performed a remarkable service by stopping a goal with his nose" in a match against Heidelberg.

The player's name was actually Harry, but a Henry also played in the side and both were prominent cricketers in Northcote.

There was no Northcote football club in 1888 and a few players from our neighbouring district lined up with Preston.

The pair were part of a group that must have been a nightmare for scorers – at one point, there were five brothers by the name of Harry and two Henry brothers in the Northcote first eleven team.

The Harry was probably William, the youngest of the clan who had played senior football with Melbourne for several years.  The Henry may well have been James and the same player who led Preston's goal kicking in 1896, another year when there was no Northcote team functioning. 

Fortunately there was no Henry Harry or Harry Henry on the list!

Another player who fronted up with Preston in some years was Harry Plant.   He was a son of George Plant, the owner of the Peacock Inn Hotel and a leading light in Northcote politics as well as the patriarch of another well-known sporting family including Fred Plant who played with Melbourne at the same time as William Harry, umpired in the V.F.A. in later years and emulated his father by becoming Mayor of Northcote.
1889 Death In The Family

Volume One suggested Preston's first known captain was Alf Vaughan in 1888 although we now know the earlier honour belongs to the  mysterious Horan.

Vaughan led the side in 1888 and 1889 but the young club suffered a crushing blow with his death in late August of that year.

The Preston Leader suggested Vaughan had been hospitalised for some weeks with severe fluid on the lungs.   
Vaughan owned a grocery shop in Garnett Street and  was believed to have been just 25 years old when he died and 
And the Clan Paterson

Volume One, along with a couple of other sources noted five Paterson brothers that played with the Preston Football and Cricket Clubs.

Newspaper reports from the 1920s and 1930s reveal that Watson and Paterson ham and bacon business as jointly managed by "four sons of William Paterson, Robert, James, Thomas and Charles".

There was some confusion over to the fifth son.

The Braithwaite family was also closely involved with the early business life of Preston with one of the largest tanneries and later through their descendants a pottery and an automobile business that eventually became Preston Motors.

Through the marriage of one of the Braithwaite daughters, there was a close connection with another family by the name of Patterson.

The William Patterson that played with both the football and cricket clubs was probably a member of that family.

The missing fifth son from the Paterson family was actually John McMurchy Paterson, or "Jack" as he was more commonly known.

The youngest of the siblings, Jack was drowned in the Darebin Creek in November 1896 just a week before his 21st birthday

He and a friend walked one Sunday from the corner of David and High Streets to a well-known swimming hole on the creek, then much more free-flowing than today and a popular spot during summer for both fishing and swimming..

The inquiry into the drowning heard that Paterson had leapt into a swimming hole while his friend was stripping off his shirt and boots.

The hole was known to be pitted with snags and rocks, but even though only 50 feet long and 40 feet across with a maximum depth of about 12 feet, it took two full days for Paterson's body to be recovered.

Searchers dragged the creek to no avail before calling in a professional diver with no success.   On the Tuesday morning, they resorted to detonating sticks of dynamite in the hope that the explosions might shake the body loose, but it wasn't until a team of bullocks were brought in to tear away the rocks that formed the natural pool and allow it to drain that the Paterson's body suddenly surfaced.

The loss of a member of one of Preston's leading families was keenly felt and the funeral procession stretched for nearly a half a mile through the scattered hamlet.

Given the Preston Baths did not open until 1928, there were usually one or two drownings each year in either the Merri or Darebin Creeks.

William Paterson died late in September 1902, the Preston Leader suggesting that “it had been expected for some time” and that Paterson had been ill “for several years”.

Paterson had been involved in local politics for 39 years since settling in the area in 1862 and remarkably had never been opposed in his electorate except where subdivision had occurred.   

He also served for 25 years as a magistrate at the Preston Court and the funeral procession to Coburg Cemetery where he was buried was described as the largest yet seen in the district.

1891 And Our First Representative

To James Paterson went the honour of being Preston's first representative footballer.

At the start of the 1891 season, Paterson was selected in a combined First-Rate side of 23 to play a match against Carlton.  

Given there were 28 clubs in the First-Rate competition of 1890, Paterson's selection carried some prestige.  He joined Fitzroy in 1892 and became a regular with them, playing mostly as a follower (at the time there were four) and occasionally at centre half forward.

Paterson also can claim the honour of being the area's first representative on the cricket field.

After two or three years with the Gowerville Cricket Club, he moved to Coburg, then playing in the Boyle and Scott Trophy competition and later becoming an "affiliated" club, the equivalent of today's Sub-District level.

Late in 1891, Paterson was named in a Junior Twenty to play Lord Sheffield's visiting English XI led by the legendary Dr. W. G. Grace following January. 

Paterson impressed with the ball taking 3 wickets for 14 against the Englishmen in the first innings as well as contributing 10 runs batting at, ahem, number 19.

The Australasian, the country's leading weekly suggested that "… Evans and Paterson bowled successfully.  The latter is a left hander with an easy delivery …".

The match was delicately poised after Lord Sheffield's XI compiled 116 and 155, against the Juniors 131 in the first innings.   

With 141 required for victory, the Juniors were 16 wickets down for 105 with Paterson three not out when the English side regrettably had to leave the field early on the third day to catch the two o'clock express train to Sydney for their next engagement.

Lord Sheffield enjoyed the tour so much that on arrival back in England, he ordered a shield be made and donated for competition between the leading Australian cricketing states, then Victoria, New South Wales and South Australia.

1892 The Lost Year

There has been nothing further uncovered to suggest why Preston dropped out of the First-Rate competition.

A fixture for the Heidelberg club published pre-season in the Collingwood Mercury shows matches drawn to play Preston on June 11 and August 13.   This indicates that at least Preston were planning to play during the year, but caused some confusion when the matches were announced for the prize donated by the local M.L.A. Robert Harper

The Preston Leader showed the June 11 match won by Heidelberg as the first of the matches for the trophy, but this was in fact the game originally scheduled..   

According to the Mercury, Preston actually won the first match of the series which was played the following Saturday but no scores were given.

Harper organized the competition between clubs in his electorate as a fundraiser after a tragic drowning that saw the loss of 15 lives, including twelve players from the Mornington Football Club.

On May 21, Mornington had arranged a match with Mordialloc, on the coast some 20 miles to the north.   There had been some discussion on whether to travel by road or make the journey by sea.  

The days previous had seen some choppy seas, regarded as safe, but uncomfortable and the Saturday dawned bright and still.

One of the team offered the use of his family’s boat, a 28 foot fishing yawl known as the “Process” well known in the area for its success in many sailing regattas and twelve of the team opted to sail on the vessel, crewed by three experienced fishermen.

For reasons never discovered, the “Process” sank some four miles out of Mornington on the return voyage, leaving no survivors.

It was at the time the worst maritime tragedy in Port Phillip Bay and many sporting organizations got behind an appeal for the families of the victims, amongst which were three sons of a local clergyman, the Rev. James Caldwell.

Alf Toll, mentioned as kicking Collingwood's first goal in competition earlier in the year returned to Preston and played in a couple of the games against Heidelberg. 
The Toll family originally lived in Clifton Hill, but during the late 1890s are shown as being at the only residence listed in Elizabeth Street, now Gilbert Road. 
A Northcote Football Club was prominent in junior ranks from around 1876 to the mid 19880s when it disbanded.  

A new Northcote club joined the V.J.F.A. in 1890 at the same time as Preston, but lasted just two years before it also disbanded just prior to the 1892 started.

The early Northcote team played on a ground behind the Croxton Park Hotel, then rather more central to most of the settled parts of Northcote than Westgarth Street, which was somewhat remote and rather neglected in terms of maintenance.

1893 They Ought To Turn It Up

Some further digging around shows that Preston’s finishing positions as shown in Volume 1 for 1893 and 1894 are perhaps a little flattering.

Despite the severe economic conditions, the V.J.F.A. managed to run two First-Rate Divisions, the top two in each playing off for the title.   Preston’s position is shown relative to the Division in which they played – no ladders combining the two sections were published.

The V.J.F.A. was lucky to survive.

The economic depression that swept the world saw many of Melbourne's financial institutions collapse, including the Standard Bank, where all the Association's funds were held.

Fortunately, the V.F.A. came to its financial assistance, but recognising the problems of trying to control so many clubs, the senior body removed restrictions on other competitions being formed and affiliated with it. 

When Camberwell and Preston met on June 17, they were the only two sides not to have recorded at least a draw, but despite what newspapers of the time called a good game, Preston remained pointless after losing by four goals to two at Camberwell.
The following week, the ultimate premiers Napier Imperials set a new First-Rate competition record with 16 goals, J. McCarthy, later a star with Fitzroy kicking six.

The Sporting Judge pondered :

"Preston - poor Preston!   They ought to turn it up after such a disgraceful drubbing.   Who was the Preston player that accused the umpire of leaning towards the 'Naps' when they led 9-0 at half-time?"

Despite the consistent losses, the struggling Preston team pulled off the upset of the season by defeating Essendon District two weeks later, and continued to front up each week when other sides either disbanded, gave walk-overs against top sides, or simply walked off the ground when faced with a bad defeat.

Late in the season, Napier Imperials drubbed Preston booting a mammoth 20 goals to nil, setting another new record.

Despite the earlier comments, The Sporting Judge heaped some begrudging praise on the struggling and usually outnumbered side under a sub-heading "Preston deserve great credit":

"Preston is the gamest team playing football bar none - and this last exhibition of theirs proves such is the case.  They deserve great credit for turning up (all 15 of them) to meet the formidable Napier".

"Some wanted to knock off at half time, but skipper Paterson said, "no, stick to it, boys!    He does much to keep the team together and his cheery "buck in, Preston" when fighting such a forlorn hope livens his boys considerably". 

The Paterson mentioned was Robert, although Tom played the latter half of the season.   Robert was missing for the first four or five games, the leadership being assumed by Robert Smart.

1894 For The Love Of The Game

Again two sections operated with a total of eighteen teams and again Preston’s result as shown was for their section.

Matches started at 3 o’clock as most players worked on Saturday morning, and with the restricted public transport of the day, clubs (and sometimes individual players) were left to their own devices to find their way to opposition grounds.

Preston’s problem with players not turning was apparent from the report in the Sporting Judge on the May 19 game against North Melbourne.

"Preston bravely turned up to take their medicine with just 13 men.  Camberwell should take note - the Preston boys play for the love of the game".

Fitzroy Juniors 24 goal to nil victory on June 9 prompted the Judge to suggest that "it was the tamest game ever seen" and that the score should have been closer to 30 goals as the Juniors hit the post several times.

Fitzroy's major goal kicker (with 8 goals) was up-and-coming champion, Mick Grace.  Grace moved to the Fitzroy senior side and played in their 1895 V.F.A. premiership at the start of a career that saw him play 167 games with Fitzroy and Carlton.

Ironically, the other heavy scorer was Eric Staniland, who had played with Preston earlier in the season before trying his luck with the Fitzroy senior team.   Staniland later returned to Preston (although how willingly is not known!) before becoming a regular player with Fitzroy, again being a member of their 1895 premiership side.

Obviously things could not get any worse, and there were a few competitive efforts against Brunswick (lost 6 to 9), Richmond (lost 6 to 8) and Carlton Juniors, who won 6 to 5.

The Judge found Preston's small revival remarkable when with tongue planted firmly in cheek they noted …

"why, Preston managed to play with four extra men on Saturday, 17 in all!"

… remembering of course that teams comprised 20 players at the time.

1895 Protest Upheld

By June 15, Preston had gone 28 games without a win, and the ice appeared to have been broken when the team was credited with a win against Essendon 2 goals to 1.  

The newspapers celebrated Preston's lonely victory, but some two weeks after being credited with the win, a protest by Essendon was heard by the V.J.F.A., and a disputed goal kicked by Preston was annulled and that the "victory" reverted to a draw.

The non-winning sequence, at least now bolstered by a couple of draws, extended to 36 before Preston's longest ever drought finally came to end with a 3 goals to 2 win over Brighton at Preston Park.

After the August 3 game against Hawthorn, it was Preston's turn to protest, albeit to no avail, that the opposition had played an illegal player named Whitehead.

The last round was actually abandoned after torrential rain left most grounds unplayable.

Preston were due to play Albert Park who had beaten them easily earlier in the year.   Unfortunately, Preston had already advised the V.J.F.A. that it could not field a team and Albert Park were awarded the points on a walk-over.

Fitzroy Crescent suffered the same fate in their game against Collingwood Juniors.

Albert Park were premiers on a count back based on the number of goals scored from Albion United.

The weeks leading up to the start of the season saw the passing of one of the men believed responsible for the formation of the Gowerville Football Club, William Watson/

Watson originally lived next to the ham and bacon factory in Dundas Street, but in later years after he retired from the business, he moved to King William Street in North Fitzroy.

Watson died on March 31 1895 and was buried in Melbourne General Cemetery, leaving his widow, three daughters and two sons. 
1896 The Hall family

From around 1896, the name of Hall starts appearing in Preston Football Club reports.  

The three brothers were the offspring of James Hall and Margaret Jarman.  

Nothing is known of the early years of the marriage, but the couple seem to have moved regularly.  
The oldest son, Parry (known as "Pad") was born in Collingwood in 1876, Sydney (invariably shown as Sid) in Sandringham in 1879, and the youngest, shown in birth records as Edwin Norman but later as Edward Norman ("Dewey") at Diamond Creek in 1883.

By 1890, the family was living in Livingstone Street in Preston.   
The name "Hall" appears around this time in a couple of brief reports of football matches played by a team from the Preston Grammar School (on the corner of High and Station Streets) which is believed to have catered for children who have completed grade 6 of a primary school education - this could have been either (or perhaps at different times, both) of the older pair.

Parry married Frances Emily Grover in Fitzroy in 1903 and the couple appear to have lived in either Clifton Hill or North Fitzroy during the early years of the marriage before moving to Beechworth and later returning to Melbourne.   
Their first child, Parry Rupert was born at Clifton Hill in 1905, Myrtle at Preston in 1909, with the next two, Gwen (1911) and Robert (1912) at Beechworth.   Douglas is listed as being born in Melbourne (1914) but the final record is confusing, suggesting another child, again Parry, was born in 1917 and apparently died within a few months.

Syd married Nellie Ralston, a member of one of Preston's oldest families in 1902.  Just where the pair were wed is a little obscure - records give the place of the marriage as a somewhat meaningless "BGP", but there is no cross-reference in the Port Phillip Directory as what the various abbreviations to placenames are.

From the surviving records, the couple had four children, Rita (1903), Syd junior (1905, christened Sydney Gavin James), Isobel (1907) and Alice (1912) - all are shown as born in Preston.

The youngest brother, "Dewey" married Alice Wright in Geelong in 1909. A son, James Warren was born at South Yarra in 1910 and appears to have been the only offspring of that marriage.

Was the Syd Hall at Geelong from 1922 "Syd Hall Junior"?  

That both were christened "Sydney" rather than the more common "Sidney" is perhaps a strong indication that they were father and son.

From the above, Syd's Syd would have been 17 years of age when starting with Geelong.   Hall junior is known to have trained with Preston in 1930 (aged 25) but abandoned plans to play after fainting during a practice session.   
The Syd Hall with Geelong had not played with Geelong since 1926 but is listed as returning there in 1930.
1896 KickA-Poo Juice

A brief history of the V.J.F.A. published in The Sporting Globe in the mid-1920s suggest that a number of teams were dropped from the First-Rate competition because they did not have an enclosed ground.

This doesn't correspond with Preston's history, an outer fence not going up until 1901 when it is known that the rule did apply.

Preston’s performances had improved, but not nearly to the extent that one gentleman of the press seemed to believe.   The Herald for a couple of years had printed a column on junior football in their Friday night edition written by Tom Kelynack, a reporter using the pen-name of "Kickero"  

Just where "Kickero" got his kicks isn't known, but it must have had some effect when he wrote on June 19 after Preston had drawn five games and lost two, including a six goals to one thrashing by Napier Imperials  … :

"Preston are leading from the only club they are afraid of.   Ought to make good headway now"  

and he was at it again on August 14 when Preston had just two wins for the year and sat seventh on the list : 

"Preston have slipped down to second place on the ladder".

Despite these early slip-ups (perhaps the traditional sub-editor’s error), Kelynack wrote for The Herald for 42 years before retiring in 1931.

Protests continued to be common, although few seem to have been upheld.   Hawthorn protested to no avail against Preston's win claiming that one of Preston's goals had been touched.

Earlier in the year, after the draw against Essendon District on June 13, Preston lodged a protest claiming that one goal credited to Essendon "had passed outside the post".

Both protests were dismissed and the results stood, but the matter was causing some concern to the V.J.F.A. when a report of a meeting in late July noted : 

"Opinion was generally expressed at the last meeting of the V.J.F.A. that the umpires and goal umpires should arrange definite signals for goals and behinds.   This would save much trouble and ensure scoring boards are correct".

1897 

Despite Preston's lowly position, throughout the season, a crowd of between 3,000 and 4,000 attended the game against Albion on July 24 in Royal Park.   

Although it took two or three seasons to come to fruition, the 1897 year was the turnaround that Preston had been waiting for in terms of recruiting.

New players that were to later form the nucleus of the hat-trick of Junior premiership wins with Oliver Cooper, Jack Thomson, Dick Bowers, Claude Stanlake, Parry Hall and Jack Ralston all appearing for the first time and "Joe" White and Sid Hall slowly emerging as leading players.

The club was also boosted briefly by the return of James Paterson after five seasons with Fitzroy.

1898

Jack Thomson, Joe White, Oliver Cooper and Sid Hall all represented the V.J.F.A. against Ballarat.

1899

The reasons are not clear, but Preston's walkover from Albert Park on July 22 came after it was announced "Albert Park are barred from competing until they comply with the resolution of the V.J.F.A."

Strangely enough, the week previous to the walkover, Albert Park were also awarded a walkover; their scheduled opponents being Montague.   With Montague based in Port Melbourne, it may have been that some local rivalry contributed, but Albert Park did not play again and were not included in the final ladder.
Cr. James Paterson was presented with a framed photograph of the Preston team at a presentation night in July to acknowledge the service he had rendered to the club over a 15-year period.

Melbourne Juniors took the V.J.F.A. premiership from Collingwood Juniors and Fitzroy Crescent.  All three teams acted as the reserves sides for their League counterparts.

Collingwood and the Fitzroy team shared their League parent's ground, but just where Melbourne played in uncertain.  They were to be dropped from the First-Rate Division in later years because of their inability to find an enclosed ground.

1899 The Great Escape

Of course, no one knows whether the Preston Football Club held some form of a centennial New Year's celebration at the end of 1899.

But if they didn't, they should have!

When Preston first entered the V.J.F.A. First-Rate competition in 1890, it was with high hopes both for the growing district and the club itself.

There were 27 other clubs who set out after the 1890 title, many of them well established and in highly populated areas areas with plenty of likely players to choose from.

Who would have believed that the team from the remote hamlet of Preston, after finishing last in three seasons, more often than not playing three or four men short and running up a sequence of 28 straight losses and another of 36 games without a win would be the only one of the 28 to welcome in the twentieth century?

In fact, the last of the teams of 1890 had disappeared as early as 1896.   By that time, only Albert Park and Albion United had any connection to the 1890 competition., both teams arising from mergers of some of the strongest clubs at the start of the decade (Albion United from North-Park and Albion, and Napier District and Marylebone combined as Albert Park).

As well as Preston's contemporaries of 1890, a least another 15 clubs came and went within the decade.

Two clubs managed to survive in senior competition;  Brunswick, surprisingly promoted into the V.F.A. after the split at the end of 1896 of the original V.F.L. clubs and despite finishing just sixth in the First-Rate division, and West Melbourne, the 1898 V.J.F.A. premiers who were also added to Association ranks.

What makes Preston's survival even more startling was its remoteness.

We hardly regard the area as such today, but if you take a map of Melbourne, stick a compass point into the Melbourne G.P.O. (ouch) and draw a circle through Preston Park, you have an arc of almost exactly ten kilometres in diameter.
What is remarkable is that of around 50 clubs that played in the First-Rate competition, just one, Brighton, lies outside the circle.   Even then, Brighton was one of the first suburbs settled in Melbourne with a railway established by the mid-1860s.

Perhaps it wasn't surprising that the team struggled on many occasions when playing away from home with many of the opposition teams based in Carlton, Brunswick or South Melbourne, areas with no direct transport links even after the opening of the Whittlesea line in 1889.
1899 The Thomson family

From 1899, the name oh John E, Thomson (sometimes known as Jack) appears as both secretary and as a player with the Preston Football Club.

"Jack" as he appears to have popularly known was the second generation of a family that contributed enormously to the development of football and sport generally in the Preston area.  

John Hawthorne Thompson was the first of four generations of Thompsons to operate as plumbers in Preston. 
Thompson was a qualified mechanical engineer who left England in 1870 to establish himself in the new country. In 1879 he moved into Preston and set up a irrigation and steam pump business, catering to local farmers. His products also found a ready market in the tanning, brick making and ham and bacon industries. 

In 1906 Thompson’s son John Edward took over the family business and relocated it to High Street, Preston. 
He Thompson was a keen sportsman, representing the Preston Football Club on the field from 1898 to 1902 including premiership 1900-01-02 as the same time as serving as the club's Honorary Secretary ( 1899 to 1903) and as Treasurer in 1906-07 (when he pulled the boots on again a couple of times when the club was short of players).  He was also an active member of both the Preston Angling and Bowling Clubs.

After 32 years running the company, John Edward Thompson handed the business over to his son John H. Thompson. 
Amongst the large jobs undertaken by John H. included work on the Olympic Village, National Art Gallery and the M.C.G. Like his father, hewas a keen sportsman and was a committee member of the Preston Football Club and the first President of the Reservoir Bowling Club.

In 1954 John Edwin Thompson, the fourth generation of plumbers, joined the family business.
(from the Darebin Historical Encyclopaedia at
 http://dhe.darebin-libraries.vic.gov.au
1899 The Flinn brothers

The names of T. and C. "Cook" Flinn appear in Preston sides from 1898 through to 1902 but little ever appeared to reveal either given names or their backgrounds.

The brothers were Edward Coogan Flinn (commonly known as "Cook", presumably from the unusual second given name) and Thomas William Flinn.  
Both were born in Traralgon, Edward in 1868 and his brother in 1877 and they appear to be the only two children of James Flinn.   
James Flinn was the stationmaster at Preston Station from 1898 to 1904 (previously at North Carlton) and the family lived on a property on the north side of Bruce Street later (1913) acquired by the Shire Council and now the south-western area of the Preston Park where the practice cricket pitches lie.   
This property, in later years identified as 22 Bruce Street appears to have been the official residence provided for the stationmaster at Preston from at least 1896 (probably earlier) through to 1913.

1900 With A Little Help From Our Friends

Preston have been involved in a few controversial finals over the years, but probably none were more remarkable than the circumstances surrounding our first ever premiership.

Several newspapers reported that Preston late in August had a walkover from Footscray, but on that basis, Preston would have played Footscray three times and Fitzroy Crescent just once.

A recent article covered rounds of V.F.L. football that had been abandoned for various reasons and subsequent research revealed it took an amazing combination of the Boer War, a disputed walkover, a short-lived and absurd League finals system, and some bureaucratic red tape before Preston finally qualified for the final that was to raise our first pennant.

One of the earliest League rounds to be cancelled was on May 19 1900, due in part to celebrations over the relief of the Siege of Mafeking in Africa and wet weather that saw many grounds unfit for play.  

Mafeking was a small British garrison besieged by thousands of Boer troops for eight months before relief finally arrived.

Robert Baden-Powell, later famous as Lord Baden-Powell the founder of the Boy Scout movement, led the British forces and the rescue of the garrison was hailed by the entire British empire as a long-awaited victory over the Boers.

Fitzroy had been drawn to play Essendon at the latter's ground in East Melbourne and the V.F.L. originally rescheduled the round to be played on the King's Birthday holiday on the following Thursday 

1900 was the second of two years that the League experimented with a shortened home-and-away season of just 14 rounds where each of the eight clubs played each other twice to determine a ladder.

The teams were then split into two sections based on the results, and then played another knockout round of matches to determine the premiership.   

After further rain and with an early end to the season, the League decided to postponed the round until after the end of the home-and-away fixtures was completed, but the V.J.F.A. fixtures went ahead as planned.

After 15 rounds of the Junior Association fixture, Fitzroy Crescent were on top with 13 wins and a draw, Collingwood Juniors were second with 13 wins and Preston were third on 12 wins and a draw, having lost both games to Collingwood and splitting the round against Fitzroy.
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Preston's position was under threat as Northcote had lodged a protest on the grounds that Preston had included an illegal player in their win over Northcote on August 11.  Protests at the time were not uncommon, but were usually over disputed scoring decisions, perhaps not surprisingly seeing that each club supplied their own goal umpires!

Then came the controversy.

The shortened League fixture ended on August 18 and the postponed round scheduled as planned for the following Saturday.

On that day, Preston were drawn to play the Fitzroy Crescent side at the Brunswick Street Oval in a crucial match where a loss would have spelt the end of Preston's first real crack at a premiership.

To the Crescent team's horror, the East Melbourne Cricket Ground where the Essendon and Fitzroy match was to have been played was unavailable, and the V.F.L. switched the game to Brunswick Street.

This left Fitzroy Crescent without their normal ground, and such was the rapid growth in the inner Melbourne suburbs; they were unable to secure another suitable venue until the eve of the match when the Brunswick ground was finally found to be available.

And here the V.J.F.A. bureaucracy came into play, much to the disgust of one or two of the sporting journals of the day.

The Junior Association had an unwritten law that clubs wishing to switch home games to other grounds must advise the executive by the Wednesday evening prior to the game and despite comments in the Friday night edition of The Herald as to comparative strengths of the two teams and the importance of the match in deciding the premiership, the executive on the same evening ruled that Fitzroy had not complied with the "law" and therefore must forfeit the game.

Sections of the Melbourne press, notably the Sporting Judge, took up the Crescent cause, noting that the circumstances were outside of their control, that the Association's. decision to stick to the unwritten policy was “pig-headed”, and as a result, they demanded that the match be played following the end of the season.

The V.J.F.A., not renowned for flexibility in their decision making stuck to its guns, pointing out that the Crescent side should have been aware of the clash back in May and they had done nothing in the meantime to find a suitable ground or, in fact, to ask for the first round clash to be switched from Preston to Brunswick Street.  

To add fuel to the fire, at the same meeting the executive decided that they would not hear Northcote's protest on technical grounds that it had been lodged outside the prescribed period.

The effect of the League rescheduling the postponed round seems to have been far-reaching as three of the five Junior First-Rate games for the day were walkovers.

Results of the Saturday’s round in the daily press are somewhat confusing with a couple of conflicts apparent, including The Sportsman showing Preston's walkover against Footscray rather than Fitzroy. 

The bonus four points without a ball being bounced in anger allowed Preston to draw level with Fitzroy, both just two points behind Collingwood (who also "won" on a walk-over), but with Preston blessed with games against two of the bottom sides to complete the season.   

All three sides all won their next game comfortably, and to add further spice to the mix, Collingwood and Fitzroy were drawn to play in the final round.   

The premiership system in place at the time awarded the title automatically to the top team if they finished two games clear of their nearest rival.   Failing a two game break, a final was to be played.

A win to Fitzroy would have left Preston on top of the ladder, but having to play the outraged Fitzroy Crescent in the final.  Against this, a win to Collingwood would ensure them top spot and a final against Preston, who they had beaten comfortably twice through the season.

Collingwood beat Fitzroy Crescent easily to leave them half a game in front of Preston and the pair were then drawn to play the final, with and the V.J.F.A. rubbing further salt into Fitzroy Crescent’s wounds by scheduling the game at Brunswick Street!

Preston reversed their previous two losses by beating Collingwood, and what is even odder is that Collingwood had no right of challenge, a bonus available to teams finishing on top of the ladder in most other years.

Whilst Preston officials were counting their lucky stars, the nonsensical nature of the League's final system became apparent when Melbourne who had won just four of the 14 home and away games managed to become premiers despite finishing sixth of the eight teams at the end of the home-and-away fixture.

The V.F.L. quickly saw the absurdity of the situation and abandoned the system before the following season.

The corrected scores for Preston's first premiership season are

May 5
Preston 3.8 d. Richmond City 3.5

May 12
Preston 5.6 d. Footscray 3.7

May 19
Preston 2.10 d. Melbourne Juniors 1.6

May 26
Preston 5.16 d. Montague 2.0

Jun 2
Preston 6.13 d. Footscray 0.1

Jun 9
Preston 16.18 d. West Richmond 1.3

Jun 16
Preston 7.11 d. Richmond City 2.7

Jun 23
Preston 4.16 d. Northcote 1.5

Jun 30
Preston 3.13 drew Fitzroy Crescent 4.7

Jul 7
Collingwood Juniors 3.5 d. Preston 1.5

Jul 14
Preston 4.10 d. Carlton Juniors 3.2

Jul 21
Preston 4.7 d. Montague 2.3

Jul 28
Collingwood Juniors 7.4 d. Preston 3.4

Aug 11
Preston 4.6 d. Northcote 0.5

Aug 18
Preston d. West Richmond

Aug 25
Preston walkover Fitzroy Crescent

Sep 1
Preston 4.13 d. Melbourne Juniors 0.5

Sep 8
Preston 7.16 d. Carlton 0.0

Final 

Sep 15
Preston 3.3 d. Collingwood Juniors 1.6


1901

Preston's first premiership win seems to have boosted the club's status considerable and for the first time recruits were attracted from senior Association clubs.

The club gained good recruits from V.F.A. ranks in Woods and Bartlett from Port Melbourne and I. Gilbert and William Dickens, a rover and wingman respectively from Footscray.

Many reports through the year note Preston's ruck dominance with White, Oliver Cooper, and Kane, of who little is known but was described by The Herald early in the year as "Preston's coming champion".

Preston's huge win over West Richmond on June 9 prompted The Herald the following week to lend some gratuitous advice to Andy Allen :

"… some of the Preston defenders hardly touched the ball before half-time.   Why not change the lines around, Mr. Captain and give all the players a chance to show their ability?" 

Preston’s loss to Collingwood on July 14 came after Collingwood kicked 3.3 to a single point in the first quarter.  

Some additional research into the end of the year throws some doubt whether the last match of the year was actually a final.

The V.J.F.A. like the League and Association changed their method of deciding the premiership a few times around the turn of the century and it is known that Preston's 1902 premiership was awarded after they finished two game clear of the second team

Blenheim were the only team that could have finished within two wins of Preston had they won the game at Preston Park, thus forcing a play-off for the premiership.  Regardless of the game's status, a crowd estimated at 3,000 rolled up, by far the largest seen at the Park.

1902 Preston Beat League Premiers!

Over a period of years, it become a tradition that both the premier side of the V.J.F.A. and a representative team from the competition played the League premiers in practice matches prior to the start of the season.

A small slice of history was created prior to the season when Preston played Essendon, the 1901 V.F.L. premiers on April 13 at Preston Park.  

The legendary Charles "Tracker" Forbes led Essendon in the game, and "Joe" White captained Preston in the absence of regular captain, Andy Allen.    Forbes was no stranger to the V.J.F.A., having played for some years earlier with the champion North-Park team of the late 1880s and early 1890s.

Practice matches don't count for much, but as Preston beat the reigning premiers by a point 3.9 to 4.2, we'll claim it as a significant moral victory!   Best players for Preston were listed as White, Tom Flinn and Sid Hall.

White's performance must have impressed Essendon, as he spent the first six weeks of the season with them before returning to Preston for the game on June 15.  

A week later, Essendon comfortably accounted for the V.J.F.A. combined side led by Northcote’s captain, J. Kenney and including Sid Hall, White, Jackson and Gilbert from Preston.    The Sportsman noted the ordinary result of the combined side and not too subtlety suggested that the V.J.F.A. might have been better off just being represented by Preston.

As an acknowledgment of Preston's consecutive premierships, the V.J.F.A. adopted the team's blue and yellow colours for representative games.

The V.J.F.A. side also included a young John “Jock” McHale, then playing with Coburg Juniors and later Collingwood’s legendary coach and with 38 seasons in that position, still the longest serving coach at the VFL/AFL level.

1903 

In April, and before Preston’s application to the V.F.A. was finalised, Preston again played Essendon who were League runners-up to Collingwood.

Just to show it was no fluke, Preston repeated the dose against the "Same Olds" as Essendon was known, although none of the papers of the day carried actual scores.  The V.J.F.A. also played against Essendon with Sid Hall XE "Hall, Sid"  and “Tiny” Gilbert mentioned in the best players.

Preston were ultimately granted permission to join the V.F.A., but concerns were raised about the adequacy of Preston Park for a senior competition, and the V.F.A.'s agreement included requirements for several ground improvements, including fencing, ticket boxes and a press box, to be completed before the end of the following season.

With the promotion to senior level, the Shire demanded an increase in ground rental, the agreement finally being settled on one-third of nett gate-takings and two-thirds of charges to the reserve area.

Ex-councillor Barry, now a vice-president of Preston, argued strongly against the ground rental, noting "Preston Park is in a disgraceful condition, the pavilion is almost beyond repair and is altogether inadequate to requirements".

Preston's first goal kicker in the V.F.A., Wally OCock played with Carlton in Association ranks after joining from Albion United in 1896, and was their leading goal kicker in the first season of League football in 1897.   He played 41 games at the League level, the last in 1901, but he seems at least in the later stages of his career to have been a Prestonite.

He was the captain of the Preston District Cricket Club and also served in various administrative roles from 1902-03 to 1904-05, suggesting that he must have had some connection to the local area.

During the season, Fitzroy and Collingwood played the first interstate game for premiership points in Sydney and to assist the locals, players wore numbered guernseys.

To assist the locals, unfamiliar with the game and the players, both sides wore a small number on their backs.   Numbers had been tried briefly before, but the idea did not catch on as they became impossible to read on muddy days.

When the South Australian Association played the V.F.A. in 1905, the teams wore coloured numbers.  

It was to be 1907 before the V.F.A. introduced numbering of players on a regular basis and the VF.L. did not introduce numbers until 1912, when the first "Football Record" was published on a commercial basis.  

To protect its interest in the contractual arrangements with the publisher of the "Football Record", the V.F.L. did not allow other publications to print player numbers for another 50 years.

1904

Preston played Collingwood in a pre-season match, losing 4.5 to 7.6, but suffered badly with injuries early in the season.  

Top players “Tiny” Gilbert and Parry Hall did not play until late in June, and in round 2, Jack Gibson XE "Gibson, Jack"  was concussed and lay unconscious in hospital for more than 72 hours.

To Preston's embarrassment, Essendon Town ended its record losing sequence of 27 by beating Preston 9.5 to 4.14.   

The game saw the debut of Frank Dowling from Preston Juniors and Northcote.    Dowling kicked two of Preston's goals and later was the father of Preston's record holder for the number of V.F.A. games, Frank junior, and Jim, who played a season with Preston before carving out a fine career with Brunswick.   

Dowling senior was later severely wounded in the First World War and spent much of his remaining years in and out of hospital, one article in 1934 after Jim won the V.F.A. Medal suggesting he had more than 30 operations in the intervening years. 

Volume One shows Bob Wawn XE "Wawn, Bob" 's 12 goals as leading the goal kicking and was based on Marc Fiddian's "The Bullants" but a match-by-match analysis puts this in doubt.

Records remain for 15 of the 18 games (missing rounds 9, 16 and 18) and show Wawn with 8 goals trailing another player, Prideaux on 9.    Preston kicked only five goals in the missing three games and it is extremely unlikely that Wawn managed four of those, but he could still have led the list.   We will declare the title a draw! 

Fiddian's total of 11 for Richard Knell in 1903 is also incorrect - the true figure is 14.

1905

Prior to the July 29 round, the V.F.A. brought in a new rule prohibiting kicking in the ruck and The Age noted that five of Richmond's eight goals, and Preston's only goal came from free kicks awarded for infringement of the new rule.

Preston was in real trouble by the second last round when several players did not turn up at Williamstown, and The Age noted "Preston had to patch up a side with several Williamstown supporters" before losing badly to the local team 10-15-75 to 1-1-7.

Sid Hall represented the V.F.A. in a seven-point loss, 6.19 to 8.14, to South Australia at Richmond.  Hall played at full back and was listed amongst the Association's best.   Claude Stanlake was also been selected for the game but missed due to a knee injury.

Hall and "Joe”White played for the V.F.A. in the return match in Adelaide later in the year.

1906

July 14 saw police escort umpire John Grogan both from the ground and to the guard’s van at Preston Station after outraged Preston supporters mobbed him.    The Preston Leader called Grogan's performance "disgraceful" but the disapproval was not a local bias with the Williamstown Advertiser confessing :

"Indeed our local boys were very fortunate in winning this match and they were without doubt given great advantage by the umpire whose decisions were altogether in favour of our boys.   Preston have won but one match, but there is not the slightest doubt that had the umpire not been on our side, ‘Town would have been well beaten".

Even Grogan’s appearance at Preston was controversial.

After a match at Preston the previous year, again against Williamstown, Grogan was summoned and subsequently convicted in Preston Court of having struck a Preston supporter in an altercation on the boundary line in the last quarter!

The V.F.A. competition was virtually played in two divisions with a huge gap between the top and bottom five teams.   At the end of the season, Williamstown were fifth with 12 wins and a percentage of 136.4, while Brunswick were sixth with just six wins and a percentage of 76.2.

Volume One mentioned that "Joe" White missed most of 1906 and 1907 through an illness and a little further digging reveals the problem was football-related.

White was named in the V.F.A. side to play South Australia but became ill and complained of severe headaches on the train voyage to Adelaide.   Not long after the team's arrival, White collapsed and was rushed to hospital in a delirious state.

He was subsequently diagnosed with a blood clot on the brain, spending some days in an Adelaide hospital in a critical condition before being transferred back to Melbourne.   After spending nearly two months is a private hospital, White missed the rest of the 1906 season and all of the following year.

1907

Preston’s third last game was scheduled for Port, but after brawling at the ground the previous week, the V.F.A. banned the venue and the game was switched to Williamstown, where, coincidentally, Preston were drawn to play the following game.

"The first match following the disqualification of the ground was between Preston and Port Melbourne, switched to Williamstown."

"I was living at Seddon at the time and walked across to try and have a word with my cousins, "Son" and Edgar Yeomans, Preston players, as their train was en route to Williamstown.”

“I couldn't see them at first, but as the train started to move off, I was greeted with "Jump in, we are a man short".   

“The cousins hastily explained that Hedley Tomkins, afterwards Melbourne's champion rover (who was in one of the carriages) had injured his ankle and would not be able to play."

"There were no emergencies in the team.  I broke two railway regulations,- I boarded the train while it was moving, and travelled without a ticket.  Fortunately the Preston boys had a group excursion ticket so I got past the Gates at Williamstown with no problem."

"I borrowed Hedley Tomkins' "togs", played in my own boots which were certainly not built for football, and made was perhaps a unique debut in senior football."

"F.M".  The Age, March 24, 1934

"F.M" was actually a writer by the name of Fred Major, the son of one of the patrons of the Northcote Football Club.   Major's debut was also his swansong, as it was the only game he ever played with Preston 

He actually missed a chance to double his career games as Preston were coincidentally drawn to play Williamstown at their ground the following week.  Perhaps the train was late or his boots didn't stand up to the wear and tear of our game!

1908

After three or four successful years in the V.J.F.A., Northcote were finally admitted to the V.F.A. prior to the season, creating an instant local rivalry.

At Preston's Annual Meeting, V.F.A. Vice-President Alf Woodham noted Northcote's entry and warned the Preston gathering that :

"The V.F.A. has tried to get these two teams to amalgamate but has not been successful.   If Preston does not perform well and Northcote do, the amalgamation will be insisted upon and Preston will have to play at Northcote, but if on other hand, Northcote performs badly and Preston improve, the decision will go the other way".
The Northcote locals celebrated the promotion with a passion, but in the more genteel areas south of the Yarra, it was a slightly different story.

Brighton Football Club’s Annual Meeting of around 100 members at the local Town Hall discussed their application to join the V.F.A. and heard various speakers describe the Association followers as "larrikins and leary pushes" and that "many Brighton enthusiasts would object to mixing with that class of people".

Despite the vocal minority, the meeting approved the application by a majority of 4 to 1, with the committee voting in favour, 8 votes to 4.

The Preston Football Club also became embroiled in an argument with the Shire over ground rental.

Following acceptance of the 1907 accounts at the Annual Meeting early in 1908, the Club's relationship with the Shire of Preston exploded in a series of Shire meetings described by the Leader as "the most prolonged and animated arguments in the Shire Chambers for some time"

Ground rental had been a simmering issue for a couple of years and the controversy came as no great surprise.

The furore started when Cr. Allchin, an honorary auditor of the Club who had signed off the 1907 accounts, made use of a Shire meeting to describe the Preston Football Club's figures as "fake" and designed to divert income from the Shire.

Preston Football Club's arrangement with the Shire was to pay one third of the net gate takings of each match as ground rental.

Preston's audited accounts at the time showed a nett income on home games of just 2/6 (25 cents) per match.

Allchin's somewhat belated objection was that Preston paid their gate-keepers a total "salary" of 30 shillings per game, which was deducted from the gate when calculating the nett figure.

His concern (and perhaps a reasonable assessment of what appeared to be some early evidence of creative accounting) was that the gatekeepers always "donated" their salary back to the Club at the end of the season, the donation being included in general revenue, and not gate takings.

Preston's president, Jack Ralph deplored the Shire Council's stand, declaring :

"There was never a better body of men associated together than the Preston Football Club and the way they have been treated by the Council is a disgrace".

At the time, the Preston District Football Club was pushing for senior tenancy of Preston Park, and the normally amiable relationship between the two clubs deteriorated rapidly. 

Perhaps the one remaining source of pride left to the Presto Football Club was the respect the Club had earned in playing a "fair and manly" game, and letters to the press drew attention to the somewhat dubious reputation of the Preston Districts team, which had been banned from one (unnamed) competition, and had gone "within an ace" of the same fate in their 1907 year in the V.J.F.A.

The dispute attracted several letters to the Preston Leader, and eventually Cr. Allchin, caught between his criticism in the Shire meetings and his sign-off of the 1907 accounts withdrew his objection and the status quo remained.

Just how long the arrangement continued is not certain, but even as late as the mid 1930s, Preston's annual reports acknowledge "the generosity of our many gate-keepers, who donate their salary back to the Club".

1910

With Preston in a bad way, there were several huge scores by the standards of the time kicked against them.

North Melbourne's 23 goals in round 17 included 10 from Frank "Silver" Caine, an ex-Carlton star who had played briefly with the local Rose of Northcote club before joining League ranks.   

Caine's tally at the time was the second highest individual effort recorded in V.F.A. history, although he was to lose second place in 1911 when Essendon Town's Dave McNamara recorded 14 against the hapless Preston.

1911

“Hello, What’s this?” exclaimed a North Melbourne supporter upon arriving at the Preston Ground Saturday last.

“Is this a handicap football match?”  His face was a study as he turned his gaze again to the scoring board.   “What’s the matter anyhow?” he queried of his next door neighbour.  “Preston, 20 points to nothing!”

It took some minutes explaining to his satisfaction that someone had blundered and the Northerners had inadvertently meandered onto the playing arena with 18 men.

“You never know what these football blokes are up to!   I wonder what they’ll be at next?” was his sarcastic comment as he moved away to an adjacent refreshment house.

Quoted from a clipping in an unknown newspaper.   The comments referred to a game where Preston were soundly beaten despite North Melbourne’s score of 7.5 half way through the second quarter being annulled after Preston asked the field umpire to count the North players.   

The "adjacent refreshment house" was undoubtedly the Council Club Hotel on the corner of High and Cramer Streets!

1912 A Small Country Town

After the decision to drop Preston from the Association, many critics expressed sympathy, believing that the club had been promoted before its time, and there was an undoubted potential for the area to fulfill a significant role in the future of the organization.

We have extracted and reworked some figures on the suburbs represented in the V.F.A. from the Victorian Municipal Directory of 1912 and they certainly provide evidence per the following table supporting the claim that Preston was giving away a massive disadvantage in terms of numbers :

	
	
	Area 
	
	Population

	
	Population
	(acres)
	Dwellings
	(per acre)

	Prahran
	46000
	2320
	9820
	19.8

	Brunswick
	30631
	2722
	6714
	11.3

	Essendon
	22460
	4000
	4986
	5.6

	Footscray
	21583
	2571
	4987
	8.4

	Northcote
	15976
	2850
	3268
	5.6

	Williamstown
	14120
	2275
	3350
	6.2

	Pt Melbourne
	12551
	2366
	2749
	5.3

	Brighton
	11000
	3288
	2570
	3.3

	Preston
	4862
	8800
	1070
	0.6


North Melbourne were the other Association club, but the district was classified in the Directory under “Melbourne” and no individual figures were provided.  At the time, the club drew many players from West Melbourne, then very much a residential suburb.   

Essendon are included via the Essendon Association team who were based at the Essendon Recreation Reserve (Windy Hill).  The EssendonLeague club played at East Melbourne and recruited most of their players from the Public Service and Grammar Schools with little connection other than name to the district.

Just now relatively insignificant Preston was amongst the other areas is perhaps best indicated by it being listed under “Townships” in the Directory, neatly wedged between Portland and Pyalong.  Prahran, Brunswick, Essendon and Footscray appeared under ”Cities”, Northcote, Williamstown, Port Melbourne and Brighton as “Towns”.

If a further example is needed, it comes with the Directory’s entries for area : all but Preston were given in acres, but for the locals, we had to multiply 13¾ square miles by 640 acres to arrive at the figure shown.   

But obviously you got a lot more dirt for your dollar in Preston.   The total rate valuations for Essendon (certainly a little up the social scale from Preston) showed an average value per dwelling of $66.78, while locally, it was $69.71.    

By the time pf Preston’s re-admission into the V.F.A. in 1926, the Municipal Directory had promoted the district to the status of “Town”, noting us as “… a rising industrial, horticultural and dairying town”.    

The classification was perhaps a little premature as Preston was declared a City during the year.   The population was listed as 18,000 and the total number of dwellings as 5,200.  The town’s boundaries obviously hadn’t changed, but the Directory’s compiler changed is measuring rule but agreed with our earlier calculation by showing the total area as 8,800 acres!

For those of us relying on the train to take us to work or perhaps a shopping trip into “town”, the fare from Preston Station to Princes Bridge in 1912 was 4½d first class for those in the money, or 3½d second class for the rest of us.   Despite some 15 years in the intervening period, the fares didn’t jump that much, 6d (first class) or 5d (second class) in 1926.

1912

During Preston's stay in senior ranks, the Victorian Junior Football Association, originally formed in conjunction with the V.F.A., had changed significantly and the two bodies had reached an informal agreement that saw the V.J.F.A. effectively acting as a Seconds competition.

The V.J.F.A. by now also controlled many suburban and country competitions, organising fixtures and managing the appointment of umpires throughout the state.

The agreement insisted that each V.J.F.A. First-Rate team be aligned with a V.F.A. club.

As a result, several clubs, including those acting as League "feeder" teams moved across to other competitions, notably the Metropolitan District Association formed in 1892 and the forerunner of today's Victorian Amateur Football Association.

After the Preston senior club effectively took over Preston Districts, this left Preston Districts and Yarraville unaligned with V.F.A. teams.

In order to comply with the agreement, the two clubs were forced to align with V.F.A. teams - Preston Districts were linked to Essendon Association, and Yarraville with Melbourne City, Preston's replacement in the V.F.A.

The V.J.F.A. in announcing the alignment stated :

"Both clubs retain their names and colours and play on their own grounds, but their players can only go to the club with which they are affiliated".

"The permission of the junior club committee is required after the end of July".

A South Melbourne junior team was also included.   The club was actually controlled by officials residing in Port Melbourne, and changed its name, initially to Prahran and in later years to Brighton to comply with the new agreement.

Even with the advent of the officials of the senior club, A problem from pre-1900 days again appears to become prevalent, The Herald noting during the year 

"Preston Districts are not doing as well as expected in matches off their own ground.    One of the reasons and probably the principal one is that some of their best absent themselves when playing away from home".

Rules of the game were obviously still evolving.   One match report noted :

“Preston were sorely handicapped by the new rule which debars a player held with ball from disposing of it other than by holding it in one hand and punching it with a clenched fist”.

1913

The V.J.F.A. dropped its agreement with the V.F.A. and  independent teams returned to the competition, Essendon District and Camberwell replacing Brunswick and Northcote.

Preston were defeated 25 points to 58 by Northcote in a practice match, but they didn't get to play many at home after the Council granted use of the ground to the Collingwood Football Club for heir trial games on three Saturdays prior to the season.

1914

The recruits note Harry Collins, who joined from Fitzroy.   XE "Collins, Harry" 
Collins returned to Fitzroy in 1915 and played six games before enlisting in the A.I.F.    He was promoted to the rank of Lieutenant and was killed in France in 1917.

Another "new" player was Oscar Ayton (also known as "Boliver"), who had played with the club in earlier years but had taken up umpiring for the previous three seasons.  Ayton had served the club in a number of roles for many years and was already a Life Member when he rejoined

Ern Hannah, Mintford, Tom Freeman and Albert Madden represented the V.J.F.A. during the season.

Hannah, Freeman and Madden (who won two Military Medals in the oncoming war) all eventually were awarded Life Membership of the club.

1915

The 1915 season saw two innovations for the V.J.F.A;  numbering of players was introduced and boundary umpires were used for the first time; each of the competing clubs to provide an umpire.

The “wild affair” against South Melbourne was actually against Northcote (and reported in the Preston Leader the following week when Preston played South).

The game on July 17 against Northcote City proved a wild affair with five reports by umpire Beaumont, including a serious charges against Hills, and Hannah XE "Hannah, Ern"  in ‘that he threw the ball at the umpire” and “Byrne” for striking him.  

There were two brothers, William and Charles Byrne who joined at the start of the season, but the player charged was never identified by given name.  Both later went to Fitzroy, William playing 10 games and Charles two.
The charges were obviously an over-reaction.

Hannah was cleared, Hills was suspended for two weeks and Byrne to the end of the season just a few weeks away.

 South Melbourne's Donnelly was also suspended for two weeks at the same hearing.

Perhaps the pressure on players to enlist were too great, or maybe there was a communications breakdown, but after the following week's game, both Hills and Donnelly were listed as disqualified for the 1916 season after playing when suspended.

Hills probably didn't lose too much sleep as he enlisted in the armed services, ultimately to return and lead Preston's goal-kicking in 1920.

But Donnelly went out with a bang!

After the umpire the following week told him he was reporting him, Donnell seemingly responded by whacking him, the V.J.F.A. adding another two years disqualification!

Perhaps not surprisingly, Preston and South Melbourne were involved in an ongoing battle for the use of the red and white colours.

The battle continued for some years, South having to turn their jumpers inside out in one match in 1921 to allow the umpire to more clearly distinguish the colours.

After the game on May 22, Preston complained to the V.J.F.A. that South Melbourne had broken an agreement for use of the colours.  

South were fined £1/1/- for the breach, and another five bob for appearing on the ground late.

By the end of July, many clubs were struggling to field sides and 124 V.J.F.A. players were noted on active service, but a motion on July 20 to curtail the season was defeated with six clubs wanting to continue and four against.

Many other football competitions had stopped playing by this time and the V.F.A. curtailed its fixture to end on August 7.

Preston disbanded after the August 7 game against Footscray and the following week Williamstown were awarded a walkover.

Although many clubs ceased in July and August, Preston earned little credit as they failed to advise either the V.J.F.A. or the Williamstown club, leaving the latter stripped and awaiting to play.

1916

Up to 1915, the club had continued under the original junior name of Preston Districts Football Club, but before the 1916 season, the name changed to Preston Football Club, perhaps always the intention of the officials that crossed in 1912.

A loose alliance was struck with Fitzroy for Preston to act as their junior team and several permits issued for players moving between the two teams appear with an endorsement "junior-senior".   Many players took advantage of the alliance and spent time at Fitzroy, although most never made the senior team.

At the start of the year, 28 ex-players were noted as being in the armed services and unavailable on a regular basis.

Some notes in the V.F.A. Recorder in 1968 refer to someone lending the Club a copy of the 1916 Preston Football Club Annual Report which suggested "the past season was a record for finance, the gate takings totalling £26/5/11 as against £3/3/- for the previous season".   

Total receipts for the season were £123/1/2 - these included a bad debt made good, 10/-, and a refund of 10/6 on a protest which was lodged.  Expenditure for the season was £97/16/6 and included massage oil 10/- a fine for late starting, 10/- and training oil 18/3."

Prior to the season, the V.J.F.A. played Carlton in a charity match and Preston were represented by A. Fletcher, E. Ford, A. Reid and R. Scott.

1917

On July 28, Preston played one short in the first half;  a new recruit, J. Keary had been told by a committeeman that he was not required and he was playing in a junior competition when red-faced officials rounded him up for the second half.

No games at any level were played on August 4.  

The Saturday was set-aside for a Recruitment Day to bolster the flagging level of entry into the armed services.

Ogden, Joseph, Thomson, Eade Punch and Powditch were listed as Preston's best in their semi-final loss to Williamstown.

A Preston side was listed with playing numbers for the first time.  

The team for the semi-final was to be selected from:

1 Ern Utting,  2  Charles Milburn,  3  H. Brendell,  

4 Herb Kreiger,  5  J. Keary, 6  Ernie Hannah, 7  E. Ford, 

8  George Muir,  10  Kirby,   11  C. Newman,  

12  Percy Ogden (c-c),  13  Les Punch, 

14 Frank Twomey, 15  J. Sutherland,  16  Powell, 

17  Bill Twomey, 18  A. Napthine, 19  Harry Powditch,

20  Flannery,  21  Letchford,  24  Bourke, 25  Thomson,  26  Charlie Mutch (v-c),  Harry Bell, 31  A. Joseph

With senior clubs in recess, Williamstown also gained a great player in Charlie Hardy, a star with North Melbourne in the V.F.A. and in later years with Ogden at Essendon.    Hardy led Williamstown to victory over Fairfield in the final.

1918

The V.F.L. competition resumed in 1918, and Percy Ogden XE "Ogden, Percy"  returned to Essendon.   

"Ogden's sojourn with Preston (Victorian Juniors) as coach has at least served to keep him in trim and the rover chap was streets ahead of the rank and file Essendonians"

The Sporting Judge, May 18, 1918

Well done, that rover chap!

The V.F.A. also resumed with six teams - Brunswick, Footscray, Northcote, Port Melbourne, Prahran and North Melbourne.    Brighton, Hawthorn, Essendon Association and Williamstown resumed in 1919.
Volume One incorrectly lists George Barker of Essendon as captain.   

Whilst Barker played, it was actually a player  with a similar name in George Walker, from Melbourne that captained the side.   Walker returned to Melbourne the following year and played  total of 49 games with the League club.

Just what happened to the alliance with Fitzroy is unknown, but in 1918 a number of regular players moved to Collingwood to try their luck.

Most finished up getting no further than the Juniors side, and Preston's game against the Collingwood Juniors on June 8 saw no less than eight players from Preston's 1917 list in the opposition colours, but the Red and Whites still ran out comfortable winners.

The abandoned game against Williamstown listed in Volume One was actually annulled and replayed at the end of the season.

The V.J.F.A. originally declared the match a draw, but subsequently ruled that V.J.F.A. rules had not been followed and ordered a rematch at the end of the season on September 14.

Rounds towards the end of the year were subsequently rescheduled several games not impacting the final four were dropped to ensure that a Grand Final if required could be played on Show day.

As a result, the re-scheduled Williamstown replay was moved forward to August 31.

Given Preston also played Williamstown in the last round, this meant the unusual circumstances of the two teams playing on consecutive Saturdays.

Two games in the first half of August saw Preston under threat of expulsion from the competition. 

The August 5 game against Port Melbourne mentioned as ending in a melee saw Preston fined for not having police at the ground, and the following week (a game missing from Volume One), Preston led Collingwood Juniors until the last minute, when central umpire Rawle paid Monohan of Collingwood a free kick from which he goaled and put the visitors five points to the good.

Supporters mobbed the umpire coming off the ground and police escorted Rawle to the Bell station, where the angry Preston mob pelted him with missiles, one of which struck W. Carkeek, a Collingwood player on the forehead and causing a severe gash.

Two men were subsequently found guilty in Preston Court of threatening Rawle and were fined £5, in default one month's imprisonment.

Oddly enough, Jack Monohan, a son of an earlier Collingwood great of the same name, later joined Preston and was a stalwart of the club in the late 1920s.  

The playing surface at Preston Park had deteriorated badly and field umpire Hume lodged a complaint with the V.J.F.A. in June noting "the Preston ground is in a bad way and the ball at times was quite hidden in the long grass".

in the only records sighted for Best and fairest and Goal Kicking awards, T. A.  Jacobs is listed as leading with a modest 26 goals.   

Notes from individual matches include J. Piper, a player who joined the club from Sydney with five on at least two occasions and other multiple tallies.  Unfortunately, the  surviving match reports don't include goal kickers for every game, but Piper appears to have claims to the title.

Early in the year, former Preston star Hedley Tompkins, who had lost a leg in battle in France was one of several returned servicemen who were honoured at a function given by the Melbourne Football Club.   

One of the speakers at the function noted Tompkin's former team mate at Preston, Bill Hendrie was still at the front.

1919

Perhaps he couldn't relax.   Perhaps the kids were too noisy.  Or perhaps the roses didn't bloom!

The Herald on Friday, May 2 published Preston's likely team for the first game of the year with the name Hall innocuously enough hidden away.

For the second round, the name Hall bobbed up as the best player on the ground, and the following week ... 

"Preston appreciates the advice of its coach Sid. Hall, whose marking is still a feature of the club's matches".

Perhaps somebody forget to send Sid. a card for his 40th birthday, but the old warhorse was back in harness again nearly 25 years after his first game in the mid 1890s.

But age had finally caught up with the seemingly indestructible Hall, when The Herald announced rather sadly on June 13 :

"Sid Hall, Preston's stalwart coach is injured and will not be able to play again this season".

Just what Hall did in the intervening three years is not known.  

One of his grand children believes he spent some time at one stage with Collingwood, but Collingwood Districts, their junior club went into hibernation for the war in 1916.

After Sid finally retired, the captain’s role was taken over by William Billett, who played with the club in 1911 before transferring to Northcote and then to Fitzroy where he played 12 games in 1918.

Whether Billett opted out of the responsibility isn’t known, but by the time the finals came around, former Northcote player Harry Brendell was noted as captain.

Billett played with Preston in 1911 and was one of the handful of players that moved to Northcote when Preston "amalgamated" with that club in 1912.  In 1918, Billett played 12 games with Fitzroy and then re-joined Preston in 1919.

Following an injury to Sid Hall early in the season, Billett took over as captain-coach for the balance of the 1919.    He is known to have played early in 1920, but whether he occupied the same role is undocumented.

In 1921, he was captain-coach of Yarraville in the V.J.F.A.

The following year, Yarraville appointed Jim "Dave" Walsh, formerly of Essendon in the role, but Billett stayed on as a player.

He spent some time early in 1923 at South Melbourne where he played three games, and then returned to finish out the year with Yarraville, being one of their better players in their 1923 final loss to Preston.

Billett was certainly a survivor.

V.F.A. Recorder "Club Notes" from Northcote in 1968 note “the addition to the training staff of  Billy Billett, who played with us when our ground was behind the Croxton Park Hotel".  

Having played with Preston in 1911, it is reasonable to assume Billet must have been born around 1890 making him well into his 70s when he embarked on his new career!

Preston’s protest against Williamstown using an ineligible player in D. Kennedy seemed doomed to failure from the start.

Williamstown appear to have pulled something of an astute move after realising that the V.J.F.A. competition was due to finish some four weeks after the V.F.A.

Kennedy, a senior player with Williamstown (the Sporting Judge described him as "the senior team's best follower"), was granted a junior permit on August 1 just within the deadline.

He then continued to play the rest of the season with the senior side, before dropping back to the junior competition for the finals.

The V.J.F.A. Investigation Committee heard both protests together, and ruled that "any rule bearing on this case did not state that a player could not be played under these circumstances".

1923

Percy Ogden after joining Essendon established a fine record that saw him later inducted into their Hall of Fame.

After the 1921 season, he decided that his form did not warrant continuing at the highest level, and instead he became captain-coach of Northcote's V.F.A. side.

Early in 1923, rejuvenated by a year at the V.F.A. level, he returned to Essendon (at somewhere around 36 years of age), and after showing some sparkling form in early practice sessions, Essendon were eager to have him back in the fray.

What no one had considered was that in the intervening years since he first went to Essendon, the V.F.L., concerned about the recruiting practices of some clubs, had introduced a residential qualification for players.

Ogden had lived in Northcote for most of his life, and the V.F.L. refused his application to play with Essendon.

Essendon appealed to the Umpire and Permit Committee that Ogden was a 'preference case' after playing 13 years with them, an exemption clause seemingly laid down to cover special circumstances.

The Permit Committee rejected the appeal and ruled that Ogden must live in Essendon for 13 weeks to be eligible to play with them.  

Ogden quite rightly considered this a farce, and realising that the season would be more than half over before the period expired, stood his ground. 

One delegate insisted that Ogden must play with Fitzroy (to who Northcote belonged) or not play at all, but the Fitzroy delegate claimed that they had been informed that Northcote would not grant him a clearance and the Fitzroy 'would not play him.'

Essendon's delegate Mr. McGowan disputed the clearance problem, and the Permit Committee offered Ogden a chance to appear in person.

"What's the use" said the exasperated McGowan, "he'll only get stoushed!"

The exact date of the meeting was not disclosed, but by the time the report had appeared in a weekly publication, Ogden had already played two games with Preston.

Despite having already spent four years as a captain and coach, Ogden returned as a player under "Bull" Adams and with Les Punch as vice-captain.
1925 Hugh Moffatt
One of Preston's leading players between 1923 and 1925, Moffatt was described as "burly" and in the veteran class.  
Christened Hugh Gilchrist Moffatt in 1887, he was well into his thirties when he first played for Preston but he was well known around the district. 

 From 1909 to 1913, Hugh was Stationmaster at Bell Station, then an important freight destination with extensive facilities for unloading pigs on their one-way ticket to a number of bacon and ham producers in Oakover Road and around the High Street-Plenty Road junction.  
He appears at this time to have played with a local club called Everleigh, who fielded both cricket and football teams, sharing Preston Park with the senior clubs of the time

Late in 1913, the Preston Leader notes a meeting of citizens to raise a testimonial on Moffatt's transfer to Canterbury.  
In 1923, Preston's Most Consistent Player trophy (essentially "best player") is inscribed as "presented by Mrs, Moffatt".  
At the time, Hugh was listed as living at 3 Evansdale Road, Hawthorn, right next to Hawthorn station and presumably still a stationmaster (although this entry was not have been totally up-to-date).  
In 1924, there is no listing under the name Hugh, but a Mrs. M. Moffatt is listed as the licensee of the Recreation Hotel on the corner of Queens Parade and Grant Street in North Fitzroy, now the Homestead Hotel.   The following year, Hugh is listed at 169 McKean Street, North Fitzroy, within 100 yards of the hotel and nothing appears for Mrs. Moffatt

1930

In the last round, Preston Seconds, who had won 16 games straight after losing the opening two rounds to Northcote, were again up against the ‘Cotes, whose only loss was to Preston in round nine.

The winner would become minor premiers and Preston dropped a number of senior players who were eligible for the Seconds finals back for the game. 

The ploy worked in the short term, and Preston held the right of challenge despite losing to Coburg the following week.   The two teams met again in the semi-final and a close-fought game seemed set for a draw until a last-minute goal to Coburg.

Coburg thrashed Northcote in the final the following week, 11.8 to 2.11 and Preston exercised their right of challenge to a Grand Final.

Again Coburg proved too good, winning 9.13 to 6.13 to take their fourth flag in as many years.

The V.F.A. introduced the President's Trophy for the best player in the Seconds competition, and Preston's Ralph Underhill took out the award with five votes.

The umpire who awarded Underhill his last vote saved the President a fortune in silverware; no less than nine players finished equal second with four votes each!

Underhill won the trophy a second time in 1936 when he was captain-coach of the Seconds.

1931

"The youngsters at Preston have done everything I have asked of them.  That is why I am so confident that we will defeat Oakleigh and then go on to take the pennant. They have been set some severe tasks, but have never flinched under the severest punishment, and have come back to take the honours. We will not have a quitter at Preston. No matter what the trend of Saturday's game, Preston will be coming back asking for more."

Roy Cazaly, captain and coach of Preston

The Sporting Globe, September 16, 1931

The Seconds made the four for the first time, but were bundled out of the finals in a tragic fashion after looking certain winners playing at home and leading by 49 points at the last change in the semi-final.  Inexplicably, they stopped to a walk as Coburg charged home to level the scores just before the final siren, 13.17 apiece.

The replay was on the following Thursday, and Coburg won easily, 14.11.95 to 8.9.57.    The drawn game placed both teams at a huge disadvantage as the winners had to front up to Brunswick, the minor premiers with just one day to recover, and predictably, Brunswick beat Coburg easily.

Prior to the final, The Sporting Globe printed the likely Preston side with vital statistics, the first time such detail had been published.    The figures give an firm indication of just how much smaller teams were than we are used to today.

 
Weight
Height         Age


st.  
lb.
ft.
in.

Cazaly
12
6
5
11
35

McEachern
12
4
5
10
19

Spargo, P.
12
2
5
6
21

Hughson
13
6
6
1
23

Spargo, F.
11
4
5
6
19

Warr
11
3
5
5
27

Cameron
10
13
5
8
21

Campbell
12
0
5
10
29

Miller
11
2
5
9
20

Summers
10
6
5
6
25

Taylor
13
6
6
0
31

Reichman
11
3
5
9
24

Monohan
12
2
5
11
27

Seebeck
12
0
6
0
24

Davie
9
6
5
7
24

Marshall
10
0
5
5
18

Smith
10
10
5
10
20

Kupsch
10
8
5
10
19

Morgan
11
9
5
11
20

Dowling
9
12
5
7
17

Collins
11
6
5
11
22

O'Doherty
9
10
5
5
23

Piper
11
3
5
9
24

1952

The comments in Volume Two on a Preston Thirds score of 47.30 were incorrect.

In fact, the first season of the rejuvenated competition was notable for low scoring and there were just three scores of over 100 points recorded in the 17 games Preston played.   The average losing score was around 35 points.

1954

We cheated Ted Henrys out of his third Best and Fairest award (a mistake detected fairly quickly by Ted himself!).

Apologies to Pat Foley, but we uncovered a trophy for him a few years later in 1960.

1955

A typo crept into in the "Finished " section.  This should read 17 wins and 3 losses.

Northcote players took to the field without regular payment in both 1954 and 1955, agreeing to split up whatever was left over at the end of the season as their match fees.

One novel approach they tried to attract more patrons through the gates was against Preston when they organised a bicycle football match at half time.  

The "sport" was a novelty for while and Northcote applied to the V.F.A for an extension of the half time break to 30 minutes and to the Council for permission to allow a Movietone News camera truck on the ground to film the great event.

The Preston Pedal Club was very strong in those days and may have provided the Preston team that played Richmond.  Scores were never recorded but the day attracted 5,000 patrons, probably double what could have been expected in what were dark times for the V.F.A. in terms of crowds.

The Preston Footballers Cricket Club XI around this time included Pat Foley, Bob Cugley, Dick Goldin and Bert Deacon, as well as one of the Chard brothers and a something of a "ring-in" in Fitzroy Brownlow Medallist, Alan Ruthven who lived around the area.  

1960

Pat Foley took over as non-playing coach of Preston in 1959 after retiring as a player prior to the previous season.

1960 saw a side from Preston play in the strong Sunday Football League, a competition that regularly attracted crowds of 6,000 to 8,000 at its big games.   

Despite missing a few games when the V.F.A. played on Sundays, Pat Foley played and starred with the Sunday team throughout the season.

The Preston team lasted just one year, but the following season, free of coaching duties, Foley switched to Richmond and won the Best and Fairest award for the Sunday competition.

1971

After all the furore of the Grand Final protest, the Preston players and officials managed to ease their wounds with a cruise to Fiji for their end-of-season trip, believed to be the first overseas jaunt of the Preston club. 

1974

The comments about the Seconds and Thirds in the original Volume 2 are in fact reversed.

The Seconds went down to Port Melbourne by 12 points, but the Thirds blitzed Port to win by 72 points.
Goal kickers were Waters 5, Birthisel 4, Johnson, Hansen 3.  Turner, Cooper, O'Reilly, Ryles 2, Jackson 1, Fyffe 1

And Fifty Years Later

It took another 50 years to come to light, but some insight into the very early Preston perhaps Gowerville club emerged during Preston's Golden Jubilee celebrations in September of 1935.

Part of the festivities was a grand reunion and traditional Smoke Night of the Preston Football Club at the Gowerville Theatre with many past players and officials in attendance. 
Fittingly, it was a member of the family so prominent in Preston's earliest sporting endeavours that provided a couple of precious hints …

"Tom Paterson responded on behalf of the old brigade. He received rapt attention when he told of the many battles fought in the days when Bob Smith was secretary and when the football ground was where the present National Bank now stands". 

Preston Leader, September 13, 1935

Although the Bank has been in High Street for over a hundred years, it seems unlikely that they were the original purchasers.

The National was Preston's first (and for many years only) bank, but at the time was located on or near the corner of Plenty Road and Yann Street.   

The first inkling of the bank came on January 15 1890, when an advertisement refers to "the lately established Receiving Office", placing the opening either late in 1889 or the first couple of weeks of 1890. 
Just which of the football clubs Tom was referring to is uncertain, but given the family connection, it was probably Gowerville.  

One of the early reports for a Gowerville match suggests the game was at Preston South and notes the swamp-like conditions (the flat area bordering High Street was renowned for poor drainage with rainwater running down from the higher areas to both the east and west).  

The Gowerville theory supported by other snippets around the time suggesting football was played behind the Preston Arms in the area that considered itself "Preston" rather than "Gowerville" or "South Preston".

Paterson's mention of "Bob Smith" as secretary almost certainly places the recollection as before 1886.    
All secretaries of the amalgamated Preston club from that year are known and there is no reference to "Bob Smith", although W. H. Smith acted in the role in 1907-08 when the club was firmly entrenched at Preston Park.   

A family named Smith (although no "Bob" or "Robert") was prominent in the Gowerville Cricket Club, one S. D. Smith being secretary in the early 1880s and J. Smith noted as a leading batsman at the time.   "Smith" was also noted regularly amongst the better players for Gowerville in 1884-85 and for Preston in 1886 and may well have been the same gentleman given many players also acted in administrative positions.

Sadly, the Preston Leader report gave little else away about the early history of the club, mentioning one of the highlights as Ted "Dew" Hall producing his 1900 premiership cap and Tom Ralph relating "many amusing incidents when the club used rooms at his father's hotel for many years".

Jack Ralph died in 1912 and was partially paralysed at the time of his passing after an earlier accident on Rucker’s Hill.
Tom Paterson was a member pf the first ever Collingwood League team in 1897. 

He first appeared in cricketing circles around 1886 and was known as “Whopper”, a nickname given his proclivity to hit most balls he faced out of the ground.   
Paterson remained a leading player in junior cricket circles for many years, at times playing with Northcote and Coburg before returning to Preston, where he was still playing in 1912 when the club joined the Sub-District competition.

At best guess, he would have been in his early teens when he was watched the “many battles” on the National Bank ground in the early to mid 1880s.   

Later reports on the Jubilee celebrations note Tom Watson presenting the Council with a framed photograph take in 1862 of the Watson and Paterson ham and bacon curing plant jointly established by his father William and fellow Scot William Paterson on the corner of High and Raglan Streets.
Stop Press : Final Scores

There have been a few more scores uncovered in the seasons up until 1891 : 

1886

May 8
Preston 1.6 d. Essendon District 0.5

May 15
Britannia 6.12 d. Preston 1.2

May 29 
Preston 2.4 d. Heidelberg 1.9

Jun 12
Preston 2.3 d. North Richmond 1.4

Jun 19
North Fitzroy 7.5 d. Preston 0.5

Jul 3
Coburg 2.15 d. Preston 1.7

Aug 7
North Fitzroy 3.10 d. Preston 2.2

Aug 28
Preston nil drew Coburg 0.8

Both the scores against Coburg seemed open to debate.  The Brunswick Advertiser in reporting the July 3 match suggested "Benson playing as a substitute kicked both Coburg goals" suggesting he may have been a ring-in for the day.

For the return match (played at Preston), the Advertiser claimed the moral victory for the local club after suggesting Preston kicked two goals "that did not count as they were playing 22 men".  Whether Preston agreed with this interpretation is open to question!

Whether there was any connection with the known Preston club will never be known, but the Advertiser also carried a report of a match on June 26 between the Coburg Railway United and "Preston Juniors".

The Railway United team (there was also a Railways Union club) would not have rated highly around the Brunswick-Coburg district and given they beat the Juniors by four goals to nil, it is extremely unlikely that this was the "Preston" club. 

The meeting prior to the 1887 season reveals that Preston played 12 matches, winning five, losing five and drawing two.  

Although there was no formal competition as such, North Fitzroy and Britannia were both regarded as "First-Rate" junior clubs.

1887

May 21
Preston 1.6 d. Heidelberg 0.7

May 28
Preston 2.8 d. Royal Park 0.7

Jun 4
Preston 1.1 drew Star of Collingwood 1.3

Jun 25
v. Riversdale

Jul 2
v. Royal Standard

Jul 9
v. Royal Park

Jul 16
Preston drew East Brunswick *

Jul 23
Preston 2.5 d. Heidelberg 1.0

Aug 13
Preston 4.9 d. Heidelberg nil

Sep 3
v. Yarraberg

Sep 24
v. Coburg

* another source shows West Brunswick 2.6 d. Preston 1.1

The match against Heidelberg (a week before Preston found themselves banned from the Park) was described in one report as being played "on a ground kindly lent by Mrs. Brailsford as Preston Park is not ready for football".

Royal Standard was a name of a club in Richmond around 1880, but the 1887 team appears to have been based in Clifton Hill, probably attached a hotel of the same name.  The preview of their match against Preston suggested they played at "Darling Downs", almost a printer's error with the correct location the Darling Gardens, then home to several football clubs.

Yarraberg was based in Richmond and played in the Richmond Paddock near the banks of the Yarra in what we know as Burnley.    A Council Ward up until World War Two carried the name and the locals regarded themselves as a separate village from the town to the west.

1888

May 5
Coburg 4 d. Preston 0

May 12
Preston 1.3 drew Heidelberg 1.4

May 19
Grosvenor 3 d. Preston 1

May 26
Preston 2 d. Ascot Vale 1 *

Jun 21
Preston 2.6 drew Clifton 2nds 2.6

Jul 7
South Melbourne Alberts 4.15 d. Preston 1.6

Jul 28
v Royal Standard (Clifton Hill)

Aug 4
Preston 2.5 d. Heidelberg 0.4

Aug 11
v Star of Brunswick

Aug 18
North Carlton Crescent 3.5 d Preston 1.17

Aug 25
v Clifton 2nds

Sep 1
Preston 1.9 drew Heidelberg 1.5

Sep 8
v Star of Brunswick

* other scores show this as Preston 9.9 to Ascot Vale 1.5

1889

The Northcote Leader included Preston's fixture before the season, but other than that there was virtually no coverage and the few scores below have been gleaned from Collingwood or Brunswick papers.

Given these covered Fitzroy and Clifton Hill as well, the likelihood of much more being uncovered is remote.  

May 14
vacant

May 11
North Fitzroy Albion

May 18
North Carlton Crescent

May 25
Heidelberg 3.5 d. Preston 1.7

Jun 1
East Brunswick Alberts

Jun 8
vacant

Jun 15
Preston 2.5 d. Collingwood Crescent 0.14 

Jun 22
North Carlton Crescent

Jun 29
St. Mary's (St, Kilda).

Jul 6
Albion

Jul 13
Collingwood Crescent 6.8 d. Preston 2.3

Jul 2
East Brunswick Alberts

Jul 27
St. Peter's.

Aug 6
Heidelberg

Aug 10
North Fitzroy

Aug 17
vacant

Aug 24
St. Mary's (St. Kilda)

Aug  31
North Park 2nds

Sep 7
North Carlton Crescent 

Sep 14
West Star

Sep 21
Clifton Hill United.

1890

Apr 26
Preston 3 d. Northcote 2 (practice)

May 3
Preston 3.7 d. Coburg (9) 1.0  

May 10
v. Moonee Ponds

May 17
Preston 4 d. North Fitzroy 2

May 24
Preston 3 d. Clifton (18) 1  

Jun 7
Preston 5 d. Northcote 1

Jun 14
v. Napier Imperials

Jun 21
v. Fitzroy Imperials  (11)

Jun 28
South Brunswick (10) 4.5 d. Preston 0.3 

Jul 5
v. Coburg  (9)

Jul 12
v. Ascot Vale

Jul 19
Britannia (3) 5 d. Preston 0

Jul 26
v. North Fitzroy

Aug 2
Preston 4.9 d. South Brunswick  (10) 2.5

Aug 9
v. Clifton

Aug 16
v. Fitzroy Imperial

Aug 23
Preston drew. Union Jack  (7)

Aug 30
v. Ascot Vale  (27)

Aug 13
v. Moonee Ponds  (19)

Sep 6
Preston 6 d. Napier Imperials 5

Sep 20
Preston 3 drew Britannia 3

The fixture is taken from the A.B.C. Guide to Football).  Numbers (n) indicate the finishing position on the ladder of the opposition team in 1889 if they played in the First Rate competition.

Union Jack's annual report showed the draw against Preston but with no scores given.

1939 - The Forgotten V.F.A. Thirds

Modern day V.F.A. records suggest that the Thirds was started in 1952, there was actually a competition carrying the name from immediately prior to the Second World War.

The first president of the Association Thirds was former Preston and Northcote star rover, Alex Gray, also a highly successful real estate agent and father of leading Australian cricket administrator, Malcolm Gray.

Perhaps the competition has never been regarded as part of the V.F.A.'s history because several of the teams that played were not linked to Association clubs.

Several V.F.A. clubs had been fielding Thirds, Fourths and in a few cases, even Fifths sides in the V.F.A. Sub-District junior competitions for several years. But Preston's 1939 Annual Report records the formation of a Thirds side for the first time.

The fixture didn't attract much attention from the Melbourne press, but fortunately, both Preston and Northcote fielded sides and the two Leader newspapers carried most of their results.

The known teams that competed were Preston, Northcote, Port Melbourne and Brunswick from V.F.A. clubs, Coburg Juniors, who had links with the senior team, and Newmarket, West Coburg, John Vale, Northcote, Parkside, Brunswick District and South Melbourne as non-Association clubs, along with a “The Age and The Leader” team made up of employees of the two newspapers.

Whether there was any common ownership of the two papers is unknown –the Leader was a weekly publication, and the Age of course a daily.

.The Northcote side was officially called the "Northcote Sons of Soldiers" team and early in the year, there is mention of the "Sons" unfurling a pennant at a home game at Fitzroy Racecourse which was actually in St. George's Road, Northcote, just south of Arthurton Road.   

The Northcote Leader adopted the "Sons" and gave the team considerable coverage but it is not known if they had links with the Association club.

John Vale were also a Northcote based team and were an "Old Boys" team from a temperance society in the area.  They played in church competitions from around 1932 and appear to have been based at McDonnell Park in Victoria Street.

The Preston side were moderately successful and finished fourth after being beaten by Brunswick Thirds in the semi-final.  

The competition continued in 1940 and 1941 before the V.F.A. went into recess for world War Two.

The outstanding club was West Coburg, who at the time of their beating Port Melbourne in the final were listed as "not having lost a game for three years" and 

The War obviously curtailed the careers of many of the youngsters, and a scan of the best players for Preston each week does not identify anyone that went on to senior fame, with the possible exception of "Bryce".    

Preston had two players of that name, Royce and Kolleen (who joined after several years at Camberwell) that played in the early 1950s, but whether either of them was the Bryce in the Thirds isn't known.   

A contemporary of Royce (later the first coach of an "official" Thirds team) suggests that he would have been about the right age to be playing that level of football.

It also unknown whether there was an age limit.   A couple of reports mention ex-Association players and the existence of an industrial team suggests there may not have been restrictions on age.

The 1939 premiership went to a highly successful team in  West Coburg who were premiers from Port Melbourne, and the report on their final victory noted that they had been undefeated for three years.  

Preston finished third after the home and away games, but slipped to fourth after being defeated in the first semi-final.   E. Tout of John Vale won the best and fairest medal.

1940 Our Wackiest Scoreline

The Thirds continued in 1940 with a similar mix of V.F.A. clubs and local clubs.   The Age-Leader and Parkville teams disappeared; the two Brunswick teams merged, and new teams, Holeproof (from the clothing manufacturer) and a local team called Bell, thought to have played on a ground in Bell Street alongside Pentridge Prison.

State Library microfilm of the Preston Leader does not extend beyond the end of 1938 and little is know of the players representing Preston, but they went down in history by “losing” a Grand Final after finishing 72 points in front of their opponents in what must rate as the wackiest score line in the club’s history.

This little oddity came about when the organisers of the Thirds competition decided late in the year to play a second final series under handicap conditions for those clubs that did  not make the normal finals.

 Just when the series was organised is not clear from the few snippets remaining, but perhaps the Holeproof team saw an opportunity to “run dead” to help their chances under handicap conditions.

From the known scores, Preston must have missed the regular finals narrowly and were eventually handicapped on –20 points, with Port Melbourne on scratch, Northcote on +20 and the dark horses at Holeproof well under the handicapper’s guard with a whopping 60 points start!

Preston’s 32 point win over Port in the second semi-final was enough to get them to the Grand Final, but Northcote’s 12.13.85 to Holeproof’s 10.7.67 left them well short of the 40 point margin required.

The absurdity of the handicaps became obvious when Holeproof, receiving 60 points from Port Melbourne, actually won the preliminary final 13.10 to 11.18.

Many supporters will recall the furore when Dandenong were given a goal start in the 1971 Grand Final thanks to a free kick before the game had started, but that faded into insignificance when Preston had to concede Holeproof a full 80 points to win the odd little premiership.

Certainly they gave it a fair shot, but inaccuracy proved costly, the final score of 14.18.102 to Holeproof’s 4.6.30 leaving them just eight points short.

Although handicaps were common in the early days of football, it was invariably based on the number of players that took the field, usually 25 from junior clubs versus 20 seniors, this little final series in the V.F.A. Thirds of 1940 seems to be about the first and probably last time that “points in” were used in a final series.

The novelty of the handicap competition almost drew attention away from the real final series, where West Coburg, acting as the V.F.A. club’s Thirds, won their fourth premiership in as many years.

During the year, Newmarket inflicted West Coburg’s first defeat in just over four years when they won 16.9.105 to 13.10.88.    

Results started appearing in the Monday dailies on May 4, the third round of the senior competition, so it is possible that earlier rounds were played, but in the results sighted, Newmarket were unbeaten through the home and away season, but lost both the second semi to West Coburg and the preliminary final to Brunswick.

Their victory indicates the huge depth of football in the Coburg area at the time, Coburg Seconds having won six successive premierships between 1934 and 1939 and nine in the 12 years of the competition since 1928, their neighbours Brunswick having captured the other three in consecutive years from 1931 to 1933.

1941

With the war well under way and many players enlisted, most VFA clubs were struggling to field Seconds sides, let alone Thirds and 1941 saw Port Melbourne and Brunswick (as well as Bell who may have disbanded the previous year) drop out of the competition leaving just eight sides.

Preston seemed to struggle for most of the season.   With war-time restrictions, the papers of the day shrank dramatically in size, the mid-week editions of The Age for example often down to just six or eight pages.

Scores appeared regularly early in the season and then dropped away; but this seems to have been more the fault of the Association as when scores appeared, they were the same in all three Melbourne morning papers.

Probably indicative of the problems V.F.A. clubs had trying to fill three teams is that Prahran was the only team to make the finals, the others being West Coburg, Holeproof and Newmarket.  

Holeproof they may have been, but there were certainly gaps in the defence when West Coburg beat them by just on 20 goals to take their fifth consecutive premiership.

There was again a handicap premiership for the other four sides.  Northcote probably finished fifth and Preston sixth, but no handicaps were noted in the coverage of the finals.  

John Vale, who struggled to beat anyone other the hapless South Melbourne beat Northcote fair and square, 9.16 to Northcote 8.18 in what must have been a huge upset.

From the surviving scores, all results were "legitimate" and it appears that the system may have changed to award teams their handicaps on the scoreboard before play commenced to avoid the confusion in trying to adjust final scores.

How The War Was Won

Over the summer of 1940 and with the escalation of the war in Europe and the Middle East, The Sporting Globe like many newspapers started an appeal to provide some simple luxuries for the troops overseas or stationed in remote parts of Australia.

In today's politically correct climate, the Globe's "Fags for a Fighter Fund" to supply the troops with cigarettes seems unlikely in the extreme, but the press of the day, even if they were aware of the risks associated with tobacco had no such qualms.

A report in the Saturday edition before the season started noted that Mr. Bill Ryan, a Preston supporter and social organiser had handed the Globe's representative at the practice match 10/6 for the fund, with a promise "of a similar amount each match". 

A later report in the Globe on an anonymous £100 donation suggested it would "buy the boys 87,000 cigarettes" (gasp!).  

 On that basis, Preston's weekly contribution to the smoke haze was about 447 "fags for the fighters", with a medium sized butt left over!

And By Who

Jack Lynch was the only known casualty from Preston during the war.

Lynch was an heavy transport driver with the Army and actually died in a bizarre motor accident whilst stationed in North Queensland.

He was killed when a jeep in which he was travelling late one night ran into a herd of cattle which had wandered onto the unlit road and overturned.

Up-and-coming champion Bert Deacon moved to Carlton in 1942 and played several game while on leave from the Army.

During the summer months of 1944-45, he captained-coach an Army Stores team in Darwin that boasted several League and Association players including later Footscray legend, Charlie Sutton..   The team won all nine games to take out the local Services title.

With the V.F.A. in recess in 1942, Deacon did not need a clearance to play with Carlton. 

When Deacon returned to play on a more-or-less permanent basis with the League team, he opted to play one game with Preston against Williamstown where he lined up on champion full-forward, Ron Todd.

This enabled Preston to formally clear Deacon to Carlton where he played the remainder of the season.
 They Said You'd Never Make It

The discovery of a couple of Preston team sheets from around the 1916 to 1918 era have helped uncovered another player, and an interesting character at that,  who went on to League football after playing with Preston.

Norman Byron

Byron was hardly a household name as a footballer either at Preston or at Fitzroy where he originally played.

He managed just two League games, plus a couple of seasons with Preston where he played as a rover in losing finals sides in 1919 and 1920.

But Byron remained a faithful Fitzroy supporter for many years and like his English namesake, Lord Byron, was a keen poet.

He was also obviously a part-time comedian, having appeared in the 1933 Preston Football Club Concert portrayed in Volume Two 

Byron (Norm, not the Lord) wrote "The Fitzroy Premiership Song" after the Maroons 1944 Grand Final victory and paid tribute to another former .   

To the tune of "It's a Great Day for the Irish", the second verse read :

"Murray, Denning, Gracie Fields,

My word, they played their part,

Bickerton, Hilliard and O'Brien,

They broke the Tigers heart,

Georgie Hoskins and Jarvis on the wing,

Bruce Calverley, his praises we must sing,

Wright and Price,

Played so nice,

They never missed a goal,

Smokey Dawson, Morrie Hearn, Siev and Stackpole"

"Jackie Symons and Ruthven on the ball,

"and Freddy Hughson, the Daddy of them all".

Byron paid tribute to fellow former Preston players Fred Hughson and Stan "Smokey" Dawson in the song.   

The "Murray" mentioned was Dan Murray, a fine player and father of the legendary Kevin Murray.   Keith Stackpole senior, formerly from Collingwood and father of "Stacky" junior was also a good player in the final.

"Gracie" Fields was actually back-pocket Allen Fields, nicknamed after the popular English singer of the war time period.

The words are extracted from "Fitzroy, Melbourne's First Suburb", produced by the Fitzroy Historical Society.  

The book includes a photograph of the winning premiership team, and in the photo is trainer Alec Eaton, later long serving trainer at Preston and a Life Member.   Also pictured is Alf Eaton, again known to have served at Preston.

Another ex-Preston player closely associated with Fitzroy's premiership was Len Wigraft who played with the club in 1916 and 1917 before moving to League ranks.
Wigraft won Fitzroy's Best Player Award 1920, 1924, 1925 and represented Victoria three times

He is also remembered as a key member of a coaching panel that planned Fitzroy's tactics for the day, which seem to have taken their opponents by surprise and are credited as being instrumental in their victory.

William Ahern

News of the existence of Ahern came through our 2003 affiliation with Carlton when one of their historians asked whether a couple of Carlton players had appeared with Preston.

Amongst the names was William Ahern, who played his one and only game in the very first round of V.F.L. football and was not sighted again.

Ahern played with Preston form 1893 to 1896, although his first two seasons comprised just a handful of games.  In 1896, he played in eleven of the twelve games where team-sheets have been sighted; his career after his time with Carlton is unknown.

Robert and Tom Paterson

From the same source, a doubt has been raised over whether Robert Paterson ever played a senior game, although both The Encyclopaedia of A.F.L Footballers and a history of Collingwood published in 1992 credited him with playing.

An extensive check of published teams of the day show only one Paterson with Collingwood, at one point identified as "T. Paterson".
From the check, Tom's recorded four games seems about correct
William Patterson

Was listed as one of the Paterson family in Volume One but this is not correct.  There was a William Patterson with Preston in 1910 but it is doubtful whether this was the Carlton player
Keith Burns

It is perhaps ironic that after countless of hours checking out little-known and short-term Preston players to see whether their careers blossomed to the point where they played at the ultimate level, we missed one of the more recognizable faces around the club over the last dozen or so years in Keith Burns.

Certainly it was known that Keith was very much a Preston boy (at one stage, the Sunday School teacher of yours truly at the Church of Christ in High Street) and the suspicion that he may have first played with the Thirds came when the Burns name appeared amongst the best players for Preston Thirds in a lonely 1955 VFA Recorder in our possession.

At that stage, he would only have been 15 years of age and some further research proves Burns was one of two or three subsequent League players who appeared with Preston Seconds or Thirds teams without playing a senior game. 

Keith’s League career was modest : 28 games and 32 goals with Collingwood between 1957 and 1961 before he switched to become captain-coach of Sandringham where he took out the 1962 Liston Trophy.

But it was later in life and coaching under-age teams, firstly Collingwood Thirds and later the Northern Knights that Burns really made his name, and given his latter affinity with young players, it is fitting that his first game came under circumstances that may well never have occurred before or since.

Burns played the first five games as a rover with Collingwood Seconds, but may have found the more mature opposition a little tough.  Still just 17 years of age, he was eligible for the Thirds and he was dropped back for one game before returning to the Seconds.  

Again, it was back to the Thirds - little remains of the results, Burns game must have been something special.   

The senior Collingwood team copped a hiding from Footscray in the same round.    Perhaps the selectors had decided Burns was not cut out for Seconds football, because they took the unusual step of promoting him from the Thirds straight into the seniors!     

The few mentions of Burns that appeared during the pre-season invariably referred to “the Northcote High School boy” as did several when he made his debut, but The Age on June 14 confirmed our suspicions by noting “Keith played with Preston Thirds in 1956”. 

Jack Woolley

Carlton's records also reveal that Jack Woolley, who originally played with Preston later appeared with three League clubs without ever establishing a permanent career.
Woolley (who appears to have been born Wooley) appeared with Preston teams in 1910 and 1911 and was one of the players that transferred to Northcote in 1912 after the supposed amalgamation of the two clubs.

He played nine games with Essendon in 1913 and 1914, as well as two with Melbourne in the latter season.

After apparently playing with South Yarra while many League and Association teams went into recession, Woolley bobbed up at Carlton in 1918 where he played twelve games in two seasons and kicked seven goals to bring his League tally to eleven.

The Alan Everett Interview

Late in 2002, journalist Chris Donald interviewed ex-Geelong and 1941 Preston player Alan Everett as part of some research he was conducting on the life of Fitzroy champion Haydn Bunton.

In acknowledgement of some material on Preston supplied to Chris, he suggested, with Allan's consent, including a few questions on his year at Preston.

Everett had captained Geelong in the second half of the 1940 season after the resignation as a player of captain-coach Reg Hickey before moving to Preston at age 28.

There has been some contention as to the reasons why he and Jack Lynch joined Preston and a number of other players left Geelong prior to the 1941 season.

Everett also gave some insight on the infamous brawl between Preston and Port Melbourne in 1941, a game where he played on Port legend, Tommy "The Turk" Lahiff whose comments of the day were revealing.

Q.  What prompted you to leave Geelong and join Preston?

… as I said, I was pretty disappointed.  The players appreciated me and we helped each other and were a happy bunch.  But I felt I couldn't play under that chap that was so ambitious and he proved it later on.

Q.  That was that chap that replaced Hickey?
Yes and two of his mates.

Q.  Was the move connected with a pay dispute at Geelong at the time?

No, no there was no connection.  We would have played for nothing, in fact we did on several occasions when we couldn't make the finals and crowds fell away.  It was a privilege to play.


Q.  So it was after seven players left after the Hickey and Quinn were replaced, er, stood down?
Yes.   I stayed for the balance of 1940, we weren't a strong team but we made the finals.  We lost the semi-final to Essendon by about three goals I think.

(Reg) Hickey and (Tom) Quinn were our backbone, they were champions.

"Quinn wasn't as brilliant as Bunton but he was a top team player, a beautiful stab pass and created many opportunities."   

We all had a sense of loyalty to them, and the players left sadly.

Q.  Jack Lynch also moved to Preston in 1941 and kicked 133 goals.  What are your recollections of him?

He hadn't played much, just a couple of years.  Very promising player.  He was killed during the war.

Preston came to see me and talked to Jack.  He was hesitant about leaving, but his wife said "if it's good enough for Allan to go to Preston, it's good enough for you".

I was disappointed I couldn't help Preston more.  I had a bad year after I did a hamstring against Port Melbourne early on.   I felt it snap.  Port had Austin Robertson and Tommy Lahiff playing.

I needed three weeks off but I continued to play.   Preston were very fair, they paid me about what we getting at Geelong or supposed to be getting at Geelong, which wasn't a lot.  The Coulter Law allowed £3 per game.

I was very happy at Preston … Zwar was president and George Hudson was on the committee.   Preston were wonderful to us, treated me and my wife Mickey extremely well, always a big after-match turn in the pavilion.

I made a lot of friends … I'm still good friends with Les Ross.  His two daughters from the farm used to come down for the South Street competition at Ballarat and stayed with us.   Les still visits occasionally and we're still in touch regularly".

I remember lots of good players, Norman, Jack Norman was his name, a big ruckman, Dick Dowling, Albie Minney from Fitzroy, and young Charlie Stewart who got bashed against Port Melbourne one day.

Q.  Brian has some questions about a game against Port Melbourne where an infamous brawl erupted?

Yes, I played in that game, the wildest I ever saw.   

There were four police present and a northerly wind.   I think we were the only side that Port Melbourne hadn't beaten all year.   They kicked about five goals to our couple of points in the first quarter.

Preston passed Port Melbourne mid-way through the second quarter and immediately 500 people, the police said at least 500, came onto the ground.   The umpire and police had no hope, couldn't control it.

Tommy Lahiff  said to me "Alan, we've got too much to lose (indecipherable from tape) we can't sit on the fence and let this go on".  It was nasty, really nasty.

I saw one bloke in uniform charge up and bash young Stewart from behind.   

I remember one policeman got clobbered, someone knocked his helmet off, but he never took his eye off the fella.   

Tommy said to me "watch this, Alan" and pushed the helmet back on and the policeman took off into the crowd and grabbed the fella and held him up by the coat.

More police from the local station and a squad car from Melbourne arrived

Q. Was the game abandoned?

No, it was held up for a while after all the police broke up the fight and the committeemen of both clubs addressed the players.

After the game, one policeman came into the rooms and said "look what I found on the ground" and held up a hatchet about this long (indicates about nine inches).  Whether he was fair dinkum, I don't know.   It was bad, bad!

It was bad down at Port too, you had to watch your "P's and Q's" down there.   

Lahiff said, well, he did mention a couple of names, he said to me after the game "they are just crims, Allan, you couldn't leave ten bob in your pocket in our rooms or they'll be in, they are disgusting.

Q.  Was their any specific incident that sparked the brawl?
I don't remember anything.  Port Melbourne immediately rushed the ground when we got in front.  It was really bad at first, no Preston people at all for a minute or so.   It was bad.  After the police finally broke it up, the committeemen had a good talk to the players.  Funnily enough, the umpire was a chap I know, I went to school with him here in Ballarat.

He had one bad arm.  I don't know if he was looking after me but he reported someone for kicking me, but I never got kicked.   I went to the Tribunal and told the truth, one or two players said I put them in, but I told the truth, nobody kicked me and the Tribunal believed me.  

But it was nasty, you wouldn't believe it.    Appleby was the umpire, went to school with him.

Q.  Was that while you were at St. Pat's (a well known school in Ballarat)

No, no, that was when we were at Ballarat High.

Q.  Brian has had some contact with the family of a fellow player from 1941, Norm Sterling.  Do you remember Norm?  

Remember?  Oh, Norm Sterling, yes that's right!

Yes, he was the one that got bashed, not Stewart.   And I'll tell you who did it, well, I don't know who the fella was, but he was a chap in uniform.

Tommy Lahiff said to me "come on Alan, we'll keep out of this" and we were watching when this fellow in uniform ran across.   This Norm Sterling was only a boy at the time and it ruined his football for the rest of the year, I felt.

He was watching innocently, you know, never had the kudos to say "I must look after myself".   Well, he was amazed and sort of dumb, not dumb, dumbfounded, and this chap clobbered him, it was shocking and it put that boy's football off for the rest of the season.

He was a promising footballer but I don't know what happened to him.

Q.  The V.F.A. went into recess in 1942.  Were you planning to continue with Preston?
Planning?   Yes, I would have played at Preston again.  I liked the club.

Q.  Did you play anywhere in 1942?
No.  When Geelong re-entered (in 1944), we weren't eligible, we had to stand out for a couple of years, Ron Todd and so on.  It was too long for me and I retired.

I was so disappointed that I couldn't have helped out Preston more but I did this hamstring.  I played a few good games, I went to a masseur down here and he patched me with tape a few times, but you can't play on one leg and that's what it was, but they'd been decent to me and I thought, well, I'll get by.

Q.  Did you coach anywhere after leaving Preston?
I spent a couple of years coaching Geelong West under 18s and won a premiership, and after that went back to Lismore (where he originally played before joining Geelong).

Off tape, Allan was asked whether he knew the reason why 1939 and 1940 captain-coach Albie Morrison had quit a week before the season and returned to Footscray.

He replied that he wasn't really familiar with Preston at the time, that there was some hearsay, but there didn't really seem to be anything significant in his return.

Everett was 90 years of age when the interview was done late in 2002 and at that stage still a regular at North Ballarat games.

He passed away around the middle of 2004 and until his death was believed to have been the oldest living Preston player..


Norm Sterling lived in East Coburg and was residentially tied to Carlton, but wanted to play with Fitzroy.

Sterling joined Preston from the Collegians amateur team after playing with Wesley College for several years.  

Norm must have been a late developer - one of his prized trophies was a "Most Improved" award after the Collegians won the 1937 premiership, his sixth year with the club.

The two League clubs agreed to a swap of two up-and-coming Preston players.

Carlton got a Brownlow Medal, 106 games, a a couple of premiership appearances and many years of service as Secretary and in other administrative roles from Bert Deacon – Fitzroy just one game in 1944 from Seirling.

Norm returned to Preston for the 1946 season and then moved to Sydney where he played for a few years, but it was off the field that he made his mark on our game.

Sterling became involved in the establishment of the Teal Cup, originally an under-age contest between New South Wales and Queensland before it became a national competition.

He was awarded a Certificate of Merit from the Australian National Football Council in the early 1960s for his work in junior football and died in 1988, aged 75 years.






Achievements

PRESTON FOOTBALL CLUB

SENIOR PREMIERSHIPS (First Division):  1968 1969 1983 1984

 (Second Division) 1963 1965

RESERVE PREMIERSHIPS  (First Division):  1957 1978 1983 1984 1985 1987

  (Second Division):  1961  1962

THIRDS PREMIERSHIPS  (First Division): 1954 1959 1960 1964 1974 1976 

  1981 1982 1983 1984 1989

  (Second Division):  1961 1962

JUNIOR PREMIERSHIPS  (Victorian Junior Football Association) 

  1900, 1901, 1902, 1921, 1923

V.F.A. MEDAL WINNERS


RECORDER CUP: 

1926  William Summers

1934  Danny Warr

1936  Bert Hyde


 J.J. LISTON TROPHY: 

1949  Jack Blackman  

1953  Ted Henrys 

1968  Dick Telford

1969  Laurie Hill

1971  Laurie Hill

1973  Ray Shaw  

1978  Trevor Durward 

1982  Geoff Austen

1990  Matthew Burrows

 
NORM GOSS MEDAL 

1983  Geoff Austen

1984  Neil Jordan


V.F.A. LEADING GOALKICKER: 

1948  Ray Potter    (84)  

1966  John Walker  (84)

1967  John Walker  (83)

1972  Len Clark     (107) 

1986  Jamie Shaw  (145)

1988  Jamie Shaw  (105)

1990  Jamie Shaw  (103)

1992  Jamie Shaw  (73)

PRESTON KNIGHTS FOOTBALL CLUB
 
V.S.F.L. UNDER 18 PREMIERSHIP   1996

Most games - total
(minimum 160 games, all V.J.F.A. figures are estimates based on years of service and known playing records)
 

Games 
V.J.F.A. 
V.F.A 
Seasons

Sid Hall * 

275 
130 
145 
1894-1911, 1915, 1919

Archie "Joe" White 

241 
140 
101 
1892-1911

Danny Warr 

204   
  60 
144 
1926-27, 1931-36

William "Bluey" Summers 
176   
  36 
140 
1926-32, 1934

Frank "Dickie" Dowling ** 
174  

174 
1931-41

Bill "Socks" Maslen ** 

173  

173 
1935-38, 1940-41, 1945-49

Parry Hall 

170 
100 
70 
1897-1906

Percy Ogden 

165 
  95 
70 
1906-08, 1916-17, 1923-25

Oliver Cooper 

165 
  95 
70 
1897-1906


Most games - V.F.A. 

(minimum 140 games)
 
   Games 
     Seasons

Frank "Dickie" Dowling  **
174 
1931-41

Bill "Socks" Maslen  **
173 
1935-41, 1945-49

Bob "Moggy" McLachlan 
159 
1952-61

Neil Jordan  * 
158 
1984-93

Joe Lumicisi 
153 
1985-94

Clem Cooper (junior) 
146 
1950-59

Les Sweet  
146 
1950-57

Sid Hall  * 
145 
1903-1911 

Danny Warr 
144 
1926-27, 1931-36

David Brine 
143 
1981-88

Harold Martin  * 
140 
1970-74, 1978-80

William "Bluey" Summers
140 
1926-32, 1934

*   excludes games with other V.F.A. clubs

** total impacted by World War 2

Leading Goal Kickers - by aggregate
(minimum 300 goals)
 
Goals  
Games 
Average

Jamie Shaw 
673 
126 
5.3

Fred Chard  
359 
107 
3.4

Shane Halas 
348 
124 
2.8

John Walker 
339   
74 
4.6

Danny Warr 
317 
144 
2.2

Len Clark   
276   
68 
4.1

George  Bradford  
238 
123 
1.9

Mick Davis  * 
233   
55 
4.2

Leading Goal Kickers - by average
(minimum 100 goals)
 
Average   
Goals 
Games 

Jack  Lynch  
6.3 
133 
21

Jamie Shaw 
5.3 
673 
126

John Walker 
4.6 
339   
74

Mick Davis * 
4.2 
233   
55

Ray Potter  

4.2 
143   
34

Len Clark  

4.1 
276 
68

Fred Chard  

3.4 
359 
107
*     V.J.F.A  
Highest Scores

(minimum 200 points)

For    
versus 
Against 
Year

49.21.315 ** 
Sunshine 
9.5.59 
1989

43.12.270 
Camberwell 
13.14.92 
1989

38.21.249 
Camberwell 
6.9.45 
1986

36.18.234 
Camberwell 
4.8.32 
1986

35.19.229
 Sandringham 
12.7.79 
1985

34.23.227 
Waverley 
11.12.78 
1982

32.18.210 
Sandringham 
9.13.67 
1941

32.16.208 * 
Ascot Vale  
3.5.23 
1917

32.15.207 
Prahran 
21.18.144 
1980

32.14.206 
Dandenong 
13.12.90 
1984

30.23.203 
Caulfield 
20.10.134 
1981

31.17.203 *** 
Sandringham 
26.8.164
1984

29.27.201 
Yarraville 
14.10. 94 
1941

*      V.J.F.A.

**    game subsequently annulled

***  highest aggregate match score

Highest Winning Margins 

(minimum 175 points)

For  
versus 
               Against  Margin  Year

49.21.315 ** Sunshine 
9.5.59 
256 
1989

36.18.234 
Camberwell 
4.8.32 
202 
1986

38.21.234 
Camberwell 
6.9.45 
189 
1986

32.16.208 *
Ascot Vale  
3.5.23 
185 
1917

29.24.198 * 
Kew  
2.1.13 
185 
1925

30.17.197 * 
Kew  
1.7.13
184 
1920

43.12.270 
Camberwell 
13.14.92
178
1989

28.28.196 
Brighton/


 Caulfield 
2.7.19 
177
1962

*      V.J.F.A.

**    game subsequently annulled

Highest scores against
(minimum 185 points)
Against 
versus 
For 
Year

32.19.211 * 
Port Melbourne 
15.8.98 
1981  

 32.7.199 
Williamstown 
12.6.78 
1987

30.16.196 
Springvale 
9.9.63 
1991

29.19.193 
Werribee 
11.8.74 
1992

27.25.187 
Sandringham 
8.8.56 
2000

29.13.187 
Yarraville 
13.11.89 
1960

29.14.186 
Geelong West 
11.14.80 
1977

29.11.185 
Werribee 
14.13.97 
1990

29.11.185 
Port Melbourne 
19.17.131 
1980

 *   1981 Grand Final

Head to Head 

This section show the total games played, won, lost and drawn against each other club that has been regarded as an entity in the V.F.A. and now V.F.L. up to the end of the 2002 season.   The games reflect home and away games and finals series matches.   Games in "one-off" competitions such as the 1977 Centenary Cup are not included.

Current A.F.L. Reserves teams functioning in the V.F.L. have been treated as separate entities from their counterparts in the V.F.A. before the club moved to League ranks.




Club 
Years 
Played 
Won 
Lost 
Drew   
%

Albert Park  
1877-1879 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

Ballarat 
1877-1888 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

Ballarat Imperial 
1887-88 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

Bendigo Diggers 
1998- 
7 
5 
2 
0 
71.5

Berwick 
1983-87
 - 
- 
- 
- 
-

Box Hill (Hawks) 
1951- 
45 
20 
23 
2 
44.4

Brighton 
1908-61 
63 
34 
28 
1 
53.9

Brighton-Caulfield 
1962-64 
4 
3 
1 
0 
75.0

Brunswick 
1897-89 
105 
49 
55 
1 
46.7

Brunswick-Broadmeadows 
1990-91 
1 
1 

0  
100.0

Camberwell 
1926-91  
73 
49 
23 
1 
67.1

Carlton 
1877-96 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

Carlton A.F.L. Reserves 
2000- 
3 
0 
3 
0 
0.0

Caulfield  
1965-87  
18    
13   
5 
0 
72.2

Coburg (Tigers) 
1925- 
127 
59 
63 
3 
46.5

Collingwood  
1892-96 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

Collingwood A.F.L. 
2000-2000 
1 
0 
1 
0 
0.0

Dandenong 
1958-92 
57 
31  
25 
1 
54.3

Dandenong Redlegs 
1993-94 
4 
1 
3 
0 
25.0

East Melbourne 
1877, 1879-82 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

Essendon 
1877-96 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

Essendon Association 
1905-21 
14 
3 
11 
0 
21.4

Essendon Town 
1900-04 
4 
2 
2 
0 
50.0

Essendon A.F.L. Reserves 
2000- 
4 
1 
3 
0 
25.0

Fitzroy 
1884-96 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

Footscray 
1886-24 
18 
1 
17 
0 
5.6

Frankston 
1966- 
41 
18 
23
 0 
 43.9

Geelong 
1877-96 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

Geelong Association 
1922-27 
4 
4 
 0 
0 
100.0 

Geelong A.F.L. Reserves 
2000- 
5 
1 
4 
0 
20.0 

Geelong West  
1963-88 
40 
28 
12 
0 
70.0 

Hawthorn 
1914-24 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

Hotham  
1887 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

Kilsyth 
1982-84 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

Club 
Years 
Played 
Won 
Lost 
Drew   
%

Melbourne 
1877-96 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

Melbourne City  
1912-13 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

Moorabbin 
1951-63,1983-87 
-14
8 
-8
- 
57.1

Mordialloc 
 1958-1988 
9 
5 
4 
0  
55.6

Murray Kangaroos 
2000- 
4 
1 
3 
0 
25.0

North Ballarat 
1996- 
13 
3 
8 
0 
23.1

North Melbourne 
1888-1924 
18 
2 
16 
0 
11.1

Northcote 
 1908-1987 
73 
36 
36 
1 
50.0

Oakleigh 
1929-1994 
75 
48 
25 
1 
65.8

Port Melbourne 
1886- 
154 
56 
96 
2 
36.4

Prahran 
1886-87, 1899-1958, 


 
1960-1994 
139 
77 
60 
2 
55.4

Richmond 
1885-1907 
10 
0 
10 
0 
0.0

Richmond A.F.L. Reserves 
2000-2000 
1 
0 
1 
0 
0.0

Sandringham 
1929- 
114 
64 
49 
1 
56.1

South Ballarat 
1887-1888 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

South Melbourne 
1879-1896 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

South Williamstown 
1886-1887 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

Springvale 
1982- 35 
13 
22 
 
0 
37.1

St. Kilda 
1877-1880, 1886-96 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

St. Kilda A.F.L. 
2000-2000 
1 
0 
1 
0 
0.0

Sunshine 
1959-1989 
18 
12 
6 
0 
66.7

Tasmania 
2001-  
2 
1 
1 
0 
50.0

Traralgon 
1996-1997 
4 
4 
0 
0 
100.0

University 
 1885-1888 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-

Waverley 
1961-1987 
26 
18 
7 
1 
69.2

Werribee 
1965- 
32 
12 
18 
0 
37.5

West Melbourne 
1878-80, 1899-1907 
10 
0 
10 
0 
0.0

Williamstown 
1884- 
135 
50 
83 
0 
37.0

Yarraville 
1928-1983 
63 
36 
26 
1 
58.1

 
 
----- 
----- 
----- 
----- 
-----

 
 
1588
769 
801 
18 
48.4






Tom Quinn





Highest Losing Margins


(minimum 130 points)


Against	versus	For	Margin	Year


24.34.178	Brunswick	2.6.18	160   	1911


23.21.159	Preston	1.1.7	152		1910


24.29.173	Prahran	3.9.27	146		1910


23.22.160	Prahran	4.2.26	134		1910


30.16.196	Springvale	9.9.63	133		1991


27.25.187	Sandringham	8.8.56	131		2000


22.15.147 *	Williamstown	2.4.16	131		1918


21.20.146	Footscray	1.10.16	130		1911


* V.J.F.A.





Lowest scores for (pre-1912)


(maximum 8 points)


For	versus	Against	   Year


0.4.4	Brunswick	9.11.65	1905


0.5.5	Preston	10.10.70	1909


0.5.5	Prahran	07.16.58	1904


1.1.7	North Melbourne	23.21.159	1910


1.1.7	Williamstown	10.15.75	1905


1.1.7	Williamstown	18.14.122	1910


1.2.8	North Melbourne	10.14.74	1904


0.8.8	Footscray	9.01.55	1905


�



Lowest scores for (post-1912)


(maximum 35 points)


    For	versus	Against	Year


	2.7.19	Werribee	3.13.31	2001


	2.10.22	Port Melbourne	14.13.97	1991


	3.8.26	Williamstown	8.07.55	1991


	4.7.31	Moorabbin	8.18.66	1953


	4.7.31	Port Melbourne	16.18.114	1945








Lowest scores against


(maximum 25 points)


Against		versus	For	Year


	1.2.08	Brighton	22.31.163	1961


	2.3.15	Essendon Town	8.13.61	1903


	2.7.19	Brighton/Caulfield	28.28.196	1962


	2.9.21	Traralgon	16.14.110	1997


	3.4.22	Brighton	30.15.195	1961


	3.7.25	North Ballarat	08.10. 58	1996





�





�





�





Coaching


(minimum 5 seasons coaching)





Peter Weightman 	1985-88, 94-97	8


Percy Ogden 	1907-08, 16-17, 24-25	6


Bert Deacon 	1952-56		5


Alan Joyce 	1966-70		5


Mark Williams 	1998-		5*


* ongoing


Goals per season


(minimum 85 goals)


	Year	Goals


Jamie Shaw	1986	145 ***


Jack Lynch	1941	133


John Walker 	1965 #	116 ***


Len Clark	1972	106 ***


Jamie Shaw	1985	106***


Jamie Shaw	1988	105 ***


Jamie Shaw	1990	103 ***


Mick Davis *	1924	  98


Ray Potter	1948	  86 ***


John Walker	1966	  86 ***


Len Clark	1973	  86


Goals per game


(minimum 12 goals)


 	versus		Year	Goals


Bill Eade *	Ascot Vale	1917	21	


Jamie Shaw **	Sunshine	1989	19


Jamie Shaw	Camberwell	1986	18


Jamie Shaw	Frankston	1988	15


Jamie Shaw	Camberwell	1989	15


Jamie Shaw	Camberwell	1986	13


Jamie Shaw	Springvale	1986	13


Jack Lynch	Yarraville	1941	12


Jack Lynch	Northcote	1941	12


Jack Connelly	Sandringham	1945	12


Fred Chard	Northcote	1957	12


John Walker	Caulfield #	1965	12


John Walker	Prahran #	1965	12


John Walker	Caulfield #	1965	12


Darren Murphy	Sandringham	1987	12


*     V.J.F.A  


**   Score subsequently annulled


***  Leading V.F.A. goalkicker


#    V.F.A. Second Division








�






Where we come from


A History of the Preston Football Club


1882 to 2002

















Preston's first premiership captain Andy Allen, taken from the 1900 team photograph.   Note the jumper design was actually blue with a yellow sash rather than the "yellow and blue" that was used in a few match reports to describe the colours.









